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Report of the Treasurer

SUMMARY

To Members of the Corporation

During fiscal 2015, strong investment and operating 
performance enabled MIT to continue to advance discov-
ery and innovation to address some of the world’s great 
challenges, and to extend its educational impact beyond 
the boundaries of our campus. MIT’s pooled investment 
return of 13.2 percent and net operating results of $179.7 
million contributed to an increase of 8.7 percent in net 
assets totaling $17,739.0 million. The financial position 
achieved over the last few years provides MIT with options 
in responding to continued economic pressures and volatil-
ity in global financial markets while continuing to invest 
in the Institute’s priorities to enable the work of MIT’s 
faculty, students, and staff.

The Institute has continued to advance plans to revitalize 
Kendall Square and the east campus, with planning for the 
initial buildings now in the design phase. In July 2015, 
MIT filed project review and planned unit development 
special permit applications with the Cambridge Planning 
Board, which is a key step forward in realizing an exciting 
future for Kendall Square. Plans for initial development 
incorporate housing and childcare, connected open spaces, 
innovation space, retail and commercial space, and a new 
location for the MIT Museum. In addition, the Institute 
remains very interested in exploring future opportunities 
that will allow MIT to further shape the innovation ecosys-
tem around Kendall Square.

MIT has also initiated a formal planning process for the 
west and northwest areas of campus. The intent of the cur-
rent study is to create a long-range development framework 
to accommodate future academic and residential uses of 
the MIT campus west of Massachusetts Avenue to comple-
ment east campus design efforts and the ongoing renewal 
of the main campus. Provision of additional graduate 
student housing and renewal of undergraduate housing are 
critical elements of the campus plan.

Fiscal 2015 was the first year in recent decades during 
which we prevented the growth of the deferred mainte-
nance backlog. While recognizing this important mile-

stone, we are cognizant that addressing deferred mainte-
nance remains an integral part of overall campus renewal. 
Recent strong financial results, as depicted in the Summary 
of Key Financial Highlights table below, have enabled us 
to make significant progress in our renewal plans. The 
proceeds from bonds, together with our fundraising efforts, 
will enable us to further advance MIT’s multiyear campus 
renewal program and prepare for MIT’s future of contin-
ued innovation, discovery, and knowledge.

This year, MIT released a number of key reports and an-
nounced important initiatives in research and education. 
The MIT Innovation Initiative, led by Associate Deans for 
Innovation Vladimir Bulović and Fiona Murray, released 
its preliminary report in December 2014. Entitled “The 
MIT Innovation Initiative: Sustaining and Extending a 
Legacy of Innovation,” the report detailed a series of steps 
for accelerating innovation at MIT. Then in April 2015, 
the MIT Committee to Evaluate the Innovation Deficit, 
chaired by Professor Marc Kastner, released a report titled 
“The Future Postponed” detailing the impact of declining 
federal investment in basic research. 

In June 2015, the MIT Climate Change Conversation 
Committee, chaired by Professor Roman Stocker, issued 
recommendations on how MIT can contribute to solving 
the climate challenge through education, research, and 
campus engagement, and to moving forward national and 
global agendas. The report includes a number of possibili-
ties for transforming the campus into a living laboratory 
for studying climate change, and forming new partnerships 
to accelerate solutions to the climate challenge. This trig-
gered substantial commentary from the MIT community. 
In addition, the MIT Online Policy Initiative, led by Pro-
fessor Karen Willcox and Dean of Digital Learning Sanjay 
Sarma, was created in August 2014 to build on the work 
of the Institute-wide Task Force on the Future of MIT 
Education, and to catalyze a national conversation about 
the future of education and online learning.

The following are additional details regarding MIT’s fiscal 
2015 financial statements: Statements of Financial Position, 
Statement of Activities, and Statements of Cash Flows.

Summary of Key Financial Highlights (10-year trend)

(in millions of dollars) 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
Operating Revenues  2,141  2,180  2,408  2,644  2,663  2,751  2,990  3,187  3,124  3,291 
Operating Expenses  2,182  2,208  2,294  2,461  2,383  2,571  2,744  2,909  2,919  3,111 
Operating Results  (41)  (28)  114  183  280  180  246  278  206  180 
Net Assets  10,060  12,695  12,770  9,946  10,324  12,388  12,799  14,133  16,315  17,739 
Endowment  8,368  9,943  9,948  7,880  8,317  9,713  10,150  10,858  12,425  13,475 
Borrowings  1,278  1,078  1,335  1,736  1,729  2,468  2,460  2,428  2,919  2,922 
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Statements of Financial Position

The discussion in this section highlights key elements of 
MIT’s financial position—net assets; investments; endow-
ment; land, buildings, and equipment; postretirement 
benefit assets and liabilities; and borrowings.

Net Assets

Total net assets increased to $17,739.0 million, an increase 
of 8.7 percent from fiscal 2014, establishing the Institute’s 
highest-ever level of net worth. Net assets are presented in 
three distinct categories to recognize the significant ways in 
which universities are different from profit-making org-
anizations. These categories reflect the nature of the restric-
tions placed on gifts by donors.

In fiscal 2015, permanently restricted net assets increased 
$39.6 million, or 1.4 percent, to $2,881.9 million, primar-
ily due to new gifts and pledges made and income reinvest-
ed to permanently restricted endowment funds. Temporar-
ily restricted net assets increased $835.2 million, or 12.4 
percent, to $7,553.4 million, primarily due to an increase 
in the market value of assets held in permanently restricted 
funds. The Commonwealth of Massachusetts requires that 
all universities located within the Commonwealth report 
accumulated market gains on both permanently and tem-
porarily restricted net assets as temporarily restricted net 
assets until appropriated for use.

Unrestricted net assets increased $548.7 million, or 8.1 
percent, to $7,303.7 million, primarily due to unrestricted 
investment gains. 

Investments

Investments at fair value were $17,533.8 million as of 
fiscal year end 2015, an increase of $1,305.0 million, or 
8.0 percent, from $16,228.8 million as of the previous 

fiscal year end. In fiscal 2013, MIT began a program to 
finance certain real estate investments to optimize the use 
of invested capital in support of the Institute’s mission. The 
outstanding liability balance associated with this program 
totaled $220.4 million in fiscal 2015 and $231.2 million 
in fiscal 2014.

The financial statements include both realized and unreal-
ized gains and losses on investments and other assets. These 
amounts totaled a net gain of $1,651.6 million in fiscal 
2015, and $2,152.9 million in fiscal 2014.

MIT’s investment policy is based on the primary goal of 
generating high real rates of return without exceptional vola-
tility. To reduce volatility, the portfolio is broadly diversified. 
To generate high real rates of return, MIT’s investment poli-
cy favors equity investments over fixed income instruments, 
and is heavily weighted toward less efficient markets such as 
private equity, real estate, and real assets. MIT primarily in-
vests through external fund managers, thereby allowing MIT 
to access the best investment talent globally. By identifying 
a wide variety of top-tier investment managers with specific 
competencies, MIT is able to construct a broadly diversi-
fied portfolio while accessing deep sector expertise. Decision 
authority for the selection of managers, direct investments, 
and asset allocation resides with MIT’s Investment Manage-
ment Company (MITIMCo). The Board of Directors of 
MITIMCo holds four regularly scheduled meetings during 
the fiscal year where investment policy, performance, and 
asset allocation are reviewed.

Endowment

Endowment assets, the largest component of total invest-
ments, are managed to maximize total investment return 
relative to appropriate risk. The market value of invest-
ments in endowment funds, excluding pledges for en-
dowed purposes, totaled $13,474.7 million as of fiscal year 
end 2015, an increase of 8.4 percent over the $12,425.1 
million level of last year.
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This year, MIT’s pooled investments (Pool A) produced a 
return of 13.2 percent. Investment income and a portion 
of gains are distributed for spending in a manner that pre-
serves the long-term purchasing power of the endowment. 
Endowment funds invested in Pool A, MIT’s primary 
investment pool, receive distributions based on relative 
ownership, which is valued monthly.

Land, Buildings, and Equipment

Land, buildings, and equipment had a net book value of 
$2,822.3 million as of fiscal year end 2015, an increase of 
$198.0 million, or 7.5 percent, from $2,624.3 million the 
previous year, mainly driven by expenditures for research 
and educational facilities.

During fiscal 2015, new construction and major renova-
tion projects placed into service totaled $104.9 million. 
The Department of Materials Science and Engineering 
(DMSE) celebrated the opening of the renovated W. 
David Kingery Ceramics and Glass Laboratory — formerly 
known as the MIT Glass Lab — and the Merton C. Flem-
ings Materials Processing Laboratory, home to MIT’s forge 
and foundry. The third level of Building E25 was renovated 
to provide expanded laboratory and office space for the 
Institute for Medical Engineering and Science (IMES), and 
the first phase of the Building 2 renovation was completed.

The Institute currently has a total of 169 capital projects 
under construction with a cumulative cost of $278.1 mil-
lion. Building E52, home to the Department of Econom-
ics and administrative offices for the MIT Sloan School 
of Management, is undergoing a complete renovation 
that includes an expanded conference center, exterior wall 
restoration, and new windows. Building 2, home to the 
Department of Mathematics and portions of Chemistry, 
is being fully renovated, and programmatic space is being 
increased with the addition of a partial top floor. Build-
ing 66 is undergoing a multi-phased renovation for the 
Department of Chemical Engineering to improve nearly 
50 percent of the space and provide upgrades to building 
infrastructure. Additionally, site preparation is ongoing for 
MIT.nano, a five-story 200,000 gross square foot facility 
that will combine the Institute’s nanotechnology, materials, 
and engineering systems research with the most advanced 
fabrication tools and materials processing capabilities.

In accordance with MIT 2030, a flexible framework that 
guides and supports the Institute’s ongoing physical and 
financial stewardship, MIT expects future pressure on 
operating results due to increasing depreciation costs as-
sociated with the above and anticipated capital projects 
that actively address current and future academic needs and 
opportunities. 

Also, during fiscal 2015, two real estate properties, NW22 
(land only) and NW23 (land and building) located on Al-

bany Street, formerly included in the real estate investment 
portfolio, were transferred to educational plant for aca-
demic and administrative use. Building NW23 is currently 
undergoing major renovations and will be the new home 
to the Department of Facilities groups of Campus Services, 
Campus Construction, Maintenance and Utilities, and the 
Office of Campus Planning. This will include the instal-
lation of a new roof, new windows, and open office space 
with a few private offices and conference rooms. 

Postretirement Benefit Assets and Liabilities

The defined benefit pension plan had assets of $3,378.5 
million as of fiscal year end 2015, an increase of $242.7 
million from $3,135.8 million as of fiscal year end 2014. 
The plan’s projected liabilities were $3,431.7 million as 
of fiscal year end 2015, up $291.0 million from $3,140.7 
million a year earlier, resulting in a net pension liability of 
$53.2 million and $4.9 million as of fiscal year end 2015 
and 2014, respectively. MIT also maintains a postretire-
ment welfare benefit plan that covers retiree expenses 
associated with medical and life insurance benefits. This 
plan had assets of $548.9 million and liabilities of $549.0 
million as of fiscal year end 2015, resulting in a net benefits 
liability of $0.1 million compared to $43.9 million as of 
fiscal year end 2014. For both plans, the increases in assets 
and liabilities were primarily due to investment perfor-
mance and a change in mortality assumptions, respectively.

Effective as of fiscal year end 2015, MIT revised its mortal-
ity assumptions used to determine the projected benefit 
obligations of the defined benefit pension and postretire-
ment welfare benefit plans. The revised assumptions were 
derived from the mortality tables published by the Society 
of Actuaries in October 2014. The change in mortality as-
sumptions for both plans resulted in an increase of $267.9 
million in the projected benefit obligations as of fiscal year 
end 2015. In addition to this change, MIT engaged its 
actuary to perform a comprehensive review and experience 
study of certain demographic assumptions for both plans 
that resulted in a decrease of $33.9 million in the projected 
benefit obligations as of fiscal year end 2015.

The combined plans’ fiscal 2015 underfunded status was 
$53.2 million, up from $48.8 million as of fiscal year end 
2014. On an accounting basis in fiscal 2014, the defined 
benefit pension plan had a funding level of 99.8 percent, 
and the postretirement welfare benefit plan had a funding 
level of 91.9 percent. In accordance with the Institute’s 
funding strategy to ensure the long-term strength of these 
plans, the Institute contributed $7.5 million to the defined 
benefit pension plan and $28.7 million to the postretire-
ment welfare benefit plan during fiscal 2015. As a result 
of these contributions, changes in the interest rate envi-
ronment, actual investment performance, and changes in 
certain demographic assumptions, the funding status of the 
defined benefit pension plan slightly declined to 98.5 per-
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cent, and the postretirement welfare benefit plan improved 
to 99.9 percent. The investments of both plans’ assets are 
managed by MITIMCo.

MIT also offers a 401(k) plan to its employees, which is 
not reflected in the Statements of Financial Position. Assets 
in this plan are invested at the direction of participants in 
a broad array of investment funds. The plan’s investment 
market value was $3,893.5 million as of fiscal year end 
2015. In July 2015, MIT transitioned to a new, stream-
lined 401(k) investment menu, which includes a core 
line-up of 37 funds plus the option to access more than 
5,000 additional funds through Fidelity’s retail brokerage 
window.

Borrowings

On September 29, 2014, MIT issued $522.4 million in 
taxable Series D bonds to advance refund and defease 
$453.7 million of Series N (2008) and Series O (2008) 
tax-exempt bonds. The $522.4 million Series D bond pro-
ceeds were used to purchase Treasury securities to fund es-
crow accounts that will cover both interest payments and 
principal repayments on the original bonds through their 
redemption dates (July 1, 2017 for Series N; July 1, 2018 
for Series O) plus the costs of issuance. Low yields in the 
Treasury market relative to the interest rates paid by MIT 
on the Series N and O bonds necessitated the total Series 
D principal to exceed that of the defeased debt, with this 
transaction increasing the total principal of indebtedness 
by $68.7 million. However, the lower interest rates on the 
Series D bonds relative to those of the defeased debt will 
result in overall lower debt service payments to maturity.

MIT’s financial strength is reviewed periodically by both 
Moody’s Investors Service and Standard & Poor’s Rat-
ing Services. In fiscal 2015, these agencies rated the most 
recent bond issuance and reaffirmed MIT’s credit as “Aaa” 
and “AAA,” their highest rating levels.

Statement of Activities

Operating Activities

In fiscal 2015, MIT recovered from the prior year’s reduc-
tion in research volume and continued to grow research 
activity and maintain excellence in education. The Institute 
invested in education and research activities, as well as in 
its capital renewal and maintenance program. MIT ended 
the year with a surplus from operations of $179.7 million. 
This is $26.2 million, or 12.7 percent, lower than the fiscal 
2014 result.

Operating revenues increased $166.4 million, or 5.3 
percent, to $3,290.8 million in fiscal 2015, while operat-
ing expenses increased $192.6 million, or 6.6 percent, to 
a total of $3,111.1 million. Year-over-year comparisons of 

the components of operating results are presented on the 
following graph.

Operating Revenues

MIT’s operating revenues include tuition, research, unre-
stricted gifts and bequests for current use, fees and services, 
other programs, endowment distribution, and income 
from other investments, auxiliaries, and payments on 
pledges for unrestricted purposes (included within net asset 
reclassifications and transfers).

Tuition revenue for graduate, undergraduate, and non-
degree executive programs net of financial aid grew by $7.3 
million, or 2.3 percent, to $331.8 million. The growth in 
undergraduate tuition revenue was driven by a 3.5 percent 
increase in tuition rates and a 0.4 percent decrease in stu-
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dent population. Financial aid for undergraduate students 
increased by 4.4 percent to $92.5 million. Financial aid for 
graduate students grew by 2.8 percent to $187.8 million.

Research revenues for on-campus departments, labs, and 
centers at MIT increased $2.1 million, or 0.3 percent, to 
$665.6 million. Research revenues for Lincoln Laboratory 
increased $50.7 million, or 6.1 percent, to $879.3 mil-
lion; and for the Singapore-MIT Alliance for Research and 
Technology (SMART), research revenues increased $0.1 
million, or 0.4 percent, to $31.7 million.

The growth rate in MIT’s campus research is being driven 
by both Federal and non-Federal sponsors. Federally spon-
sored research revenue slightly increased by 1.1 percent 
compared to the prior fiscal year, with the largest increase 
being related to the National Aeronautics and Space 
Administration. Non-Federally sponsored research in-
creased by 5.8 percent, primarily driven by nonprofits and 
industrial sponsors. The increase in Lincoln Laboratory 
research is the result of increased Federal funding from the 
Department of Defense. During fiscal 2015, the Air Force 
renewed the contract for operation of Lincoln Laboratory 
for an initial term of five years with an option to extend 
for an additional five years, acknowledging the long-term 
value of the Laboratory in service to national security. The 
moderate increase in SMART research is the net result of 
certain interdisciplinary research groups winding down and 
renewing.

MIT’s modified total direct research expenditures, which 
form the basis for recovery of indirect costs, increased by 
$57.5 million, or 6.1 percent, in fiscal 2015.

While research and net tuition support more than half of 
MIT’s revenue, the Institute experienced significant growth 
in support from investments. Support from investments 
increased $46.0 million, or 7.4 percent, primarily due to 
an increase in the endowment distribution. The effective 
spending rate on endowed funds was 4.5 percent, or 5.1 
percent on a three-year-average basis, in fiscal 2015.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses grew to $3,111.1 million, an increase 
of $192.6 million, or 6.6 percent. This consolidated result 
combines differing underlying trends in units funded by 
the general Institute unrestricted budget, the research 
enterprise, and expenditures from accumulated unit fund 
balances.

Overall Institute salary expenses rose 5.9 percent while 
employee benefits expenses rose 7.4 percent, primarily 
driven by increases in costs associated with the actuarial 
adjustments made to the postretirement benefit plans and 
employment taxes related to Social Security (FICA and 

Medicare). One-time professional costs associated with 
streamlining the 401(k) plan investment menu also con-
tributed to the increase. Medical and dental insurance costs 
remained stable on a per-member basis, but grew slightly 
to accommodate increased membership. Campus average 
salary increases were 4.5 percent while headcount grew by 
1.8 percent.

Non-Operating Revenues, Gains and Losses 
Summary

Non-operating activities contributed $1,299.3 million to 
MIT’s fiscal 2015 total net assets of $17,739.0 million. Net 
appreciation on investments and other assets (reduced by 
the endowment spending distribution), gifts and bequests, 
pledges, and changes in retirement plan obligations and 
assets were the principal contributors to the net positive 
non-operating performance. Net appreciation on invest-
ments and other assets, reduced by the endowment spend-
ing distribution, totaled $1,134.8 million.

Gifts and Pledges

Gifts to MIT support scholarships, fellowships, profes-
sorships, research, educational programming, and student 
life activities, as well as construction and renovation of 
buildings. Gifts and pledges for fiscal 2015 totaled $493.7 
million, an increase of 9.1 percent from the fiscal 2014 
total of $452.7 million. Gifts from individuals represented 
35.3 percent of new gifts and pledges in fiscal 2015, down 
from 64.3 percent in fiscal 2014. Gifts from foundations 
represented 26.3 percent of new gifts and pledges in fiscal 
2015, up from 23.4 percent in fiscal 2014. Gifts from 
corporations and other sources represented 38.4 percent of 
new gifts and pledges in fiscal 2015, up from 12.3 per-
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cent in fiscal 2014. New gifts and pledges for research and 
education were the largest categories of contributions for 
fiscal 2015.

Statements of Cash Flows

The overall cash position of MIT reflects positive operating 
results and an active cash management strategy that takes 
into account liquidity management, economic conditions, 
and future needs.

Net operating cash flow consumed $71.4 million in fis-
cal 2015. Net operating cash flow resulted from a total 
increase in net assets, adjusted for non-cash items (depre-
ciation and net gain on investments and other assets, etc.), 
offset by changes in working capital, excluding cash and 
debt. The net of pledges receivable, accounts receivable, 
accounts payable, and other operating assets and liabilities 
provided $43.6 million of operating cash flow in fiscal 
2015. Net investing activities provided $61.1 million in 
cash due to proceeds from sales of investments to cover the 
Institute’s endowment spending policy, offset by spending 
on capital projects and purchases of investments, in fiscal 
2015. Cash provided by financing activities was $30.3 
million in fiscal 2015, $584.6 million lower than in fiscal 
2014, as fiscal 2014 included a century bond issuance of 
$550.0 million.

MIT’s full financial statements and footnotes, further 
describing our financial position, activities, and cash flows 
through June 30, 2015, are included on the following 
pages.

Closing Remarks

The Institute’s strong financial performance in fiscal 2015 
follows years of solid operating growth, and we begin fiscal 
2016 on a sound financial foundation with the resources 
needed to enable MIT’s future. 

On April 29, 2015, MIT unveiled the memorial to MIT 
Police Officer Badge #179 Sean Collier. Intended to be a 
place of remembrance and reflection, Professor J. Meejin 
Yoon’s design, made possible by Professor John Ochsendorf ’s 
engineering, in a shape akin to an open hand reflects the 
connectedness of our community, and epitomizes the high-
est expression of our MIT motto ‘Mens et Manus’ — mind 
and hand. While we will always remember, we move for-
ward as a stronger community, hopeful about our future.

I have the greatest enthusiasm about how the campus will 
be physically transformed in the coming decade, about the 
innovation and discoveries our faculty and students will 
achieve, and about the impact MIT will continue to have 
in addressing the world’s great challenges. We approach 
the future with tremendous optimism about all we hope 
to accomplish together, but still mindful of the world’s fi-
nancial uncertainties. While our financial strength provides 
MIT with flexibility to pursue groundbreaking initiatives 
and build for the future, we remain vigilant to economic 
and financial forces beyond our direct control and will be 
responsive to global events to maintain our capability to 
support MIT’s core mission.

In closing, I would like to express my deep appreciation to 
Dr. Kirk D. Kolenbrander, and acknowledge his many con-
tributions as Secretary of the MIT Corporation since 2006. 
I am also grateful to Senior Vice President and Secretary 
of the Corporation R. Gregory Morgan for accepting these 
responsibilities in March 2015.

As always, I remain indebted to our students, faculty, staff, 
alumni, friends, and members of the MIT Corporation, for 
their dedication and enduring commitment to realizing the 
future we aspire to together.

Respectfully submitted,

Israel Ruiz
Executive Vice President and Treasurer
September 11, 2015
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Massachusetts Institute of Technology
Statements of Financial Position
at June 30, 2015 and 2014

(in thousands of dollars) 2015 2014

Assets

Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                                   $  317,682 $  297,759 

Accounts receivable, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                     172,522  195,544 

Pledges receivable, net, at fair value  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                            558,095  490,336 

Contracts in progress, principally US Government . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                 66,440  65,326 

Deferred charges, inventories, and other assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                    153,947  120,811 

Student notes receivable, net  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                 45,678  48,169 

Investments, at fair value  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                    17,533,764  16,228,756 

Noncontrolling interests . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                     232,415  287,825 
Land, buildings, and equipment (at cost of $4,186,490 for June 2015; $3,881,205 for June 
   2014), net of accumulated depreciation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                        2,822,312  2,624,271 

Total assets  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  $  21,902,855 $  20,358,797 

Liabilities and Net Assets

Liabilities:

     Accounts payable, accruals, and other liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                 436,288  411,959 

     Liabilities due under life income fund agreements, at fair value . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                     141,946  103,076 

     Deferred revenue and other credits  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                          151,933  133,288 

     Advance payments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                       422,675  392,214 

     Borrowings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                            2,922,231  2,918,901 

     Government advances for student loans  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                      35,561  35,037 

     Accrued benefit liabilities  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                 53,233  48,830 

Total liabilities  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .   4,163,867  4,043,305 

Net Assets:

     Unrestricted net assets controlled by the Institute . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                               7,071,258  6,467,131 

     Unrestricted net assets attributable to noncontrolling interests  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                     232,415  287,825 

     Total unrestricted net assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                7,303,673  6,754,956 

     Temporarily restricted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                    7,553,447  6,718,225 

     Permanently restricted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                    2,881,868  2,842,311 

Total net assets  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .   17,738,988  16,315,492 

Total liabilities and net assets .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  $  21,902,855 $  20,358,797 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Massachusetts Institute of Technology
Statement of Activities
for the year ended June 30, 2015
(with summarized financial information for the year ended June 30, 2014)

2015 Total

(in thousands of dollars) Unrestricted
Temporarily 
Restricted

Permanently 
Restricted 2015 2014

Operating Activities
Operating Revenues
Tuition and similar revenues, net of discount of 
   $280,282 in 2015 and $271,299 in 2014 . .   $  331,819 $  - $  - $  331,819 $  324,502 
Research revenues:
     Campus . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                            665,583  -  -  665,583  663,518 
     Lincoln . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                            879,327  -  -  879,327  828,659 
     SMART  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                           31,737  -  -  31,737  31,617 
Total research revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                   1,576,647  -  -  1,576,647  1,523,794 
Gifts and bequests for current use . . . . . . . . .           221,820  -  -  221,820  162,091 
Fees and services . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                        160,962  -  -  160,962  176,341 
Other programs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                        101,293  -  -  101,293  122,582 
Support from investments:
     Endowment  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                        545,861  -  -  545,861  515,431 
     Other investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                    125,498  -  -  125,498  109,925 
Total support from investments . . . . . . . . . .            671,359  -  -  671,359  625,356 
Auxiliary enterprises . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                     120,946  -  -  120,946  120,101 
Net asset reclassifications and transfers . . . . .       105,923  -  -  105,923  69,556 
Total operating revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                 $  3,290,769 $  - $  - $  3,290,769 $  3,124,323 
Operating Expenses
Salaries and wages . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $  1,253,353 $  - $  - $  1,253,353 $  1,183,270 
Employee benefits  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                      309,195  -  -  309,195  287,976 
Supplies and services  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                    971,239  -  -  971,239  892,493 
Subrecipient agreements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                  140,417  -  -  140,417  124,074 
Utilities, rent, and repairs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                 171,744  -  -  171,744  182,271 
Depreciation  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                          146,239  -  -  146,239  137,638 
Interest expense  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                        118,932  -  -  118,932  110,795 
Total operating expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                  3,111,119  -  -  3,111,119  2,918,517 
Results of operations  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                   $  179,650 $  - $  - $  179,650 $  205,806 
Non-Operating Activities
Pledge revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                        $  - $  132,249 $  62,956 $  195,205 $  180,119 
Gifts and bequests  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                      -  -  76,665  76,665  110,445 
Investment income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                      -  1,480  2,905  4,385  9,098 
Net gain on investments and other assets . . .     720,195  1,032,292  (100,887)  1,651,600  2,152,933 
Distribution of accumulated investment gains	  (192,145)  (324,648)  -  (516,793)  (497,888)
Net change in life income funds . . . . . . . . . .            (726)  (5,287)  (13,184)  (19,197)  24,101 
Postretirement plan changes other than net 
   periodic benefit cost  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                   13,314  -  -  13,314  54,398 
Net asset reclassifications and transfers . . . . .       (116,161)  (864)  11,102  (105,923)  (69,556)
Total non-operating activities . . . . . . . . . . . .              424,477  835,222  39,557  1,299,256  1,963,650 
Increase in net assets controlled by the Institute	  604,127  835,222  39,557  1,478,906  2,169,456 
Change in net assets attributable to
   noncontrolling interests . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                 (55,410)  -  -  (55,410)  13,162 
Net assets at the beginning of the year  . . . . .       6,754,956  6,718,225  2,842,311  16,315,492  14,132,874 
Net assets at the end of the year .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  $  7,303,673 $  7,553,447 $  2,881,868 $  17,738,988 $  16,315,492 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Massachusetts Institute of Technology
Statements of Cash Flows
for the years ended June 30, 2015 and 2014

(in thousands of dollars) 2015 2014

Cash Flow from Operating Activities
Increase in net assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                       $  1,423,496 $  2,182,618 
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net cash used in operating activities:
     Net gain on investments and other assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                      (1,651,600)  (2,152,933)
     Change in accrued benefits liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                         4,403  (60,814)
     Depreciation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                           146,239  137,638 
     Donated securities received . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                (47,153)  (42,890)
     Proceeds from sale of donated securities  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                      34,226  18,894 
     Net gain on life income funds . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                              (9,844)  (32,275)
     Change in noncontrolling interests . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                          55,410  (13,162)
     Amortization of bond premiums and discounts and other adjustments . . . . . . . . . . . . .               (2,101)  (4,383)
Change in operating assets and liabilities:
     Pledges receivable  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                       (67,759)  (85,742)
     Accounts receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                      23,022  (26,612)
     Contracts in progress . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                     (1,114)  2,673 
     Deferred charges, inventories, and other assets  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                 (9,459)  (12,920)
     Accounts payable, accruals, and other liabilities, excluding building and equipment accruals  10,981  25,365 
     Liabilities due under life income fund agreements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                               38,870  7,817 
     Deferred revenue and other credits  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                          18,645  (4,729)
     Advance payments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                       30,461  (4,617)
Reclassify investment income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                 (4,385)  (9,098)
Reclassify contributions restricted for long-term investment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                          (63,738)  (86,449)
Net cash used in operating activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                            (71,400)  (161,619)
Cash Flow from Investing Activities
Purchase of land, buildings, and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                      (332,275)  (243,118)
Purchases of investments  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                    (23,018,625)  (34,457,642)
Proceeds from sale of investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                              23,409,764  34,244,206 
Student notes issued . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                        (19,024)  (26,599)
Collections from student notes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                21,224  27,801 
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                 61,064  (455,352)
Cash Flow from Financing Activities
Contributions restricted for investment in endowment  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                             63,738  86,449 
Proceeds from sale of donated securities restricted for endowment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                     12,928  23,996 
Increase in investment income for restricted purposes  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                              4,385  9,098 
Proceeds from borrowings  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                   518,500  550,000 
Repayment of borrowings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                    (569,816)  (55,200)
Increase in government advances for student loans . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                 524  474 
Net cash provided by financing activities  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                        30,259  614,817 
Net increase (decrease) in cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                19,923  (2,154)
Cash at the beginning of the year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                              297,759  299,913 
Cash at the end of the year .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  $  317,682 $  297,759 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Basis of Presentation
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) 
in the United States of America. The financial statements include 
MIT and its wholly owned subsidiaries.

Net assets, revenues, expenses, gains and losses are classified into 
three categories based on the existence or absence of donor-
imposed restrictions. The categories are permanently restricted, 
temporarily restricted, and unrestricted net assets. Unconditional 
promises to give (pledges) are recorded as receivables and revenues 
within the appropriate net asset category. 

Permanently restricted net assets include gifts, pledges, trusts and 
remainder interests, and income and gains that are required by 
donors to be permanently retained. Pledges, trusts, and remainder 
interests are reported at their estimated fair values. 

Temporarily restricted net assets include gifts, pledges, trusts 
and remainder interests, and income and gains that can be 
expended but for which restrictions have not yet been met. 
Such restrictions include purpose restrictions where donors have 
specified the purpose for which the net assets are to be spent, or 
time restrictions imposed by donors or implied by the nature 
of the gift (capital projects, pledges to be paid in the future, 
life income funds), or by interpretations of law (net gains on 
permanently restricted gifts that have not been appropriated for 
spending). Gifts specified for the acquisition or construction of 
long-lived assets are reported as temporarily restricted net assets 
until the monies are expended and the buildings are put into use, 
at which point they are reclassified to unrestricted net assets. Net 
unrealized losses on permanently restricted endowment funds 
for which the book value exceeds market value are recorded as a 
reduction to unrestricted net assets. 

Unrestricted net assets are all the remaining net assets of MIT. 
Donor-restricted gifts and unexpended restricted endowment 
income that are received and either spent, or the restriction is 
otherwise met within the same year, are reported as unrestricted 
revenue. Gifts of long-lived assets are reported as unrestricted 
revenue.  

Net asset reclassifications and transfers consist primarily of 
payments on unrestricted pledges and use of building funds in 
accordance with donor restrictions for buildings put into use 
during the year. Expirations of temporary restrictions on net 
assets, release of permanent restrictions by a donor, and change 
of restrictions imposed by donors are also reported as reclas
sifications of net assets among unrestricted, temporarily and 
permanently restricted net assets.

MIT administers its various funds, including endowments, 
funds functioning as endowments, school or departmental   
funds, and related accumulated gains in accordance with the 

principles of “Fund Accounting.” Gifts are recorded in fund 
accounts and investment income is distributed to funds annually. 
Income distributed to funds may be a combination of capital 
appreciation and yield pursuant to MIT’s total return investment 
and spending policies. Each year, the Executive Committee of 
the Corporation approves the rates of distribution of investment 
return to the funds from MIT’s investment pools. (See Note K 
for further information on income distributed to funds.) 

MIT’s operations include tuition, research revenues, unre
stricted gifts and bequests for current use, fees and services, 
other programs, endowment distribution and income from 
other investments, auxiliary revenues, payments on pledges 
for unrestricted gifts, and operating expenditures. Results of 
operations are displayed in the Statement of Activities. 

Tax Status
MIT is a nonprofit organization that is tax-exempt under Section 
501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code, originally recognized in 
October 1926, with the most recent affirmation letter dated July 
2001.

US GAAP requires MIT to evaluate tax positions taken by the 
Institute and recognize a tax liability (or asset) if the Institute has 
taken an uncertain position that more likely than not would not 
be sustained upon examination by the IRS. MIT has analyzed the 
tax positions taken and has concluded that as of June 30, 2015, 
there are no significant uncertain positions taken or expected to 
be taken that would require recognition of a liability (or asset) or 
disclosure in the financial statements.

Cash 
Certain cash balances, totaling $116.4 million and $55.8 million 
at June 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively, are restricted for use 
under certain sponsored research agreements or are held on behalf 
of a related party.

The Institute had approximately $316.1 million and $296.0 
million at June 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively, of its cash  
accounts with a single institution. The Institute has not 
experienced any losses associated with deposits at this institution.

Advance Payments 
Amounts received by MIT from the US Government, 
corporations, industrial sources, foundations, and other non-MIT 
sponsors under the terms of agreements that generally require 
the exchange of assets, rights, or privileges between MIT and the 
sponsor are recorded as advance payments. Revenue is recognized 
as MIT fulfills the terms of the agreements.

A. Accounting Policies

Notes to Financial Statements
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Land, Buildings, and Equipment 
Land, buildings, and equipment are shown at cost when 
purchased or fair value as of the date of a gift when received as 
gifts, net of accumulated depreciation. When expended, costs 
associated with the construction of new facilities are shown as 
construction in progress until such projects are completed and 
put into use. Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis 
over the estimated useful lives of 25 to 50 years for buildings, 3 to 
25 years for equipment, and 4 to 6 years for software. 

Fully depreciated assets were removed from the financial 
statements in the amount of $34.3 million and $33.6 million 
during 2015 and 2014, respectively. Land, buildings, and 
equipment at June 30, 2015 and 2014 are shown in Table 1.

Depreciation expense was $146.2 million in 2015 and $137.6 
million in 2014. Net interest expense of $6.6 million and $4.4 
million was capitalized during 2015 and 2014, respectively, in 
connection with MIT’s construction projects. 

Tuition and Student Support

Tuition and similar revenues, shown in Table 2 below, includes 
tuition and fees in degree programs as well as tuition and fees for 
executive and continuing education programs at MIT.

Tuition support is awarded to undergraduate students by MIT 
based on need. Graduate students are provided with tuition 
support in connection with research assistance, teaching 
assistance, and fellowship appointments. Tuition support from 
MIT sources is displayed as tuition discount. Total student 
support granted to students was $498.5 million and $481.8 
million in 2015 and 2014, respectively. Of that amount, $161.4 
million in 2015 and $157.6 million in 2014 was aid from 
sponsors. Components of student support are detailed in Table 3 
below.

A. Accounting Policies (continued)

Table 2. Tuition and Similar Revenues

Table 1. Land, Buildings, and Equipment

(in thousands of dollars) 2015 2014

Land . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                   $  78,528 $  67,538 
Land improvements . . . . . .        64,525  64,733 
Educational buildings . . . . .       3,382,438  3,281,247 
Equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . .               271,326  246,026 
Software . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                 44,711  40,803 
Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                    3,841,528  3,700,347 
Less: accumulated depreciation  (1,364,178)  (1,256,934)
Construction in progress  . .    337,018  167,726 
Software projects in progress  7,944  13,132 
Net land, buildings, and 
   equipment .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .   $  2,822,312  $  2,624,271 

(in thousands of dollars) 2015 2014

Undergraduate and graduate  
   programs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                $  569,982 $  553,344 
Executive and continuing 
   education programs . . . . . . . .         42,119  42,457 
Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                     612,101  595,801 
Less: tuition discount . . . . . . . .         (280,282)  (271,299)
Net tuition and similar revenues $  331,819 $  324,502 

Table 3. Student Support

2015 2014

(in thousands of dollars)
Institute 
Sources

External  
Sponsors

Total 
Student 
Support

Institute 
Sources

External 
Sponsors

Total 
Student 
Support

Undergraduate tuition support . . .   $  92,488 $  14,660 $  107,148 $  88,570 $  14,506 $  103,076 
Graduate tuition support . . . . . . .        187,794  59,567  247,361  182,729  57,293  240,022 
Fellow stipends . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .               21,469  17,290  38,759  20,934  17,858  38,792 
Student employment  . . . . . . . . . .           35,417  69,844  105,261  31,935  67,955  99,890 
Total  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . $  337,168 $  161,361 $  498,529 $  324,168 $  157,612 $  481,780 
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Sponsored Research
Direct and indirect categories of research revenues are shown in 
the table 4 below.

Revenue associated with contracts and grants is recognized as 
related costs are incurred. The capital costs of buildings and 
equipment are depreciated over their estimated life cycle, and the 
sponsored research recovery allowance for depreciation is treated 
as indirect research revenue. MIT has recorded reimbursement 
of indirect costs relating to sponsored research at negotiated 
fixed billing rates. The revenue generated by the negotiated 
rates is adjusted each fiscal year to reflect any variance between 
the negotiated fixed rates and rates based on actual cost. The 
actual cost rate is audited by the Defense Contract Audit Agency 
(DCAA) and a final fixed-rate agreement is signed by the US 
Government and MIT. The variance between the negotiated fixed 
rate and the final audited rate results in a carryforward (over- or 
under-recovery). The carryforward is included in the calculation 
of negotiated fixed billing rates in future years. Any adjustment in 
the rate is charged or credited to unrestricted net assets.

Gifts and Pledges
Gifts and pledges are recognized when received. Gifts of securities 
are recorded at their fair value at the date of contribution. 
Donated securities received totaled $47.2 million and $42.9 
million in 2015 and 2014, respectively, and are shown separately 
in the Statements of Cash Flows. Gifts of equipment received 
from manufacturers and other donors are put into use and 
recorded by MIT at fair value. Gifts of equipment totaled $0.3 
million in 2015 and $1.3 million in 2014. Pledges in the amount 
of $558.1 million and $490.3 million were recorded as receivables 
at June 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively, with the revenue 
assigned to the appropriate classification of restriction. Pledges 
consist of unconditional written promises to contribute to MIT 
in the future and are recorded after discounting the future cash 
flows to the present value. 

MIT records items of collections as gifts at nominal value. They 
are received for educational purposes and most are displayed 
throughout MIT. In general, collections are not disposed of for 
financial gain or otherwise encumbered in any manner.

Life Income Funds 
MIT’s life income fund agreements with donors consist primarily 
of irrevocable charitable gift annuities, pooled income funds, 
and charitable remainder trusts for which MIT serves as trustee. 
Assets are invested and payments are made to donors and other 
beneficiaries in accordance with the respective agreements. 
MIT records the assets that are associated with each life income 
fund at fair value and records as liabilities the present value of 
the estimated future payments at current interest rates to be 
made to the donors and beneficiaries under these agreements. A 
rollforward of liabilities due under life income fund agreements is 
presented in Table 5.

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards
On July 1, 2014, MIT early adopted new guidance about Fair 
Value Measurement and Disclosures for Investments in Certain 
Entities That Calculate Net Asset Value per Share (or Its Equivalent).  
This guidance requires MIT to show investments that use net 
asset value (NAV) as a practical expedient for valuation purposes, 
separately from other investments categorized in the fair value 
hierarchy described in Footnote B. This disclosure change, which 
was applied retrospectively, can be seen in the investment leveling 
tables shown in Footnotes B and J for both fiscal years 2015 and 
2014.  

On July 1, 2013, MIT adopted new guidance enhancing the 
disclosures about Offsetting Assets and Liabilities. This guidance 
requires MIT to disclose both gross and net information 
about instruments and transactions eligible for offset in the 
statement of assets and liabilities as well as instruments and 
transactions subject to an agreement similar to a master netting 
arrangement. It also requires disclosure of collateral received and 
posted in connection with master netting agreements or similar 
arrangements. Management has evaluated the impact of the 
enhanced guidance on the Institute’s financial statements and has 
added the required additional disclosures in Note C.

A. Accounting Policies (continued)

Table 5. Liabilities Due Under Life Income Funds

Table 4. Research Revenues

(in thousands of dollars) 2015 2014

Direct:
     Campus . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                 $  482,563 $  475,382 
     Lincoln . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                  844,588  791,292 
     SMART  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                 31,620  31,519 
Total direct .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .   1,358,771  1,298,193 
Indirect:
     Campus . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                 $  183,020 $  188,136 
     Lincoln . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                  34,739  37,367 
     SMART  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                 117  98 
Total indirect . .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .   217,876  225,601 
Total research revenues .  .  .  .  .  .  $  1,576,647 $  1,523,794 

(in thousands of dollars) 2015 2014

Balance at the beginning of the year $ 103,076 $  95,259 
Addition for new gifts  . . . . . . .         14,612  5,353 
Termination and payments to 
   beneficiaries . . . . . . . . . . . . . .             

 
(14,984)  (14,917)

Net investment and actuarial gain  39,242  17,381 
Balance at end of the year . .  .  .  $ 141,946 $  103,076 
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A. Accounting Policies (continued)

Noncontrolling Interests
MIT is the general partner for several private equity funds and 
has displayed the noncontrolling interests on the Statements of 
Financial Position.

Non-Cash Items
Non-cash transactions excluded from the Statements of Cash 
Flows include $13.3 million and $14.6 million of accrued 
liabilities related to plant and equipment purchases for 2015 and 
2014, respectively. 

Use of Estimates 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, contingent 
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the 
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting 
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Reclassifications
Certain June 30, 2014 balances and amounts previously re-
ported have been reclassified to conform to the June 30, 2015 
presentation.

Subsequent Events
MIT has evaluated subsequent events through September 11, 
2015, the date the financial statements were issued. There were no 
subsequent events that occurred after the balance sheet date that 
have a material impact on MIT’s financial statements.

Summarized Information
The Statement of Activities includes certain prior year summa-
rized comparative information in total but not by net asset class. 
Such information does not include sufficient detail to constitute 
a presentation in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles. Accordingly, such information should be read in 
conjunction with MIT’s financial statements for the year ended 
June 30, 2014, from which summarized information was derived.

B. Investments
Investment transactions are accounted for on the trade date. 
Dividend income is recorded on the ex-dividend date. Realized 
gains and losses are recorded by MIT using the average cost 
basis. For limited partnerships, the realized gain/loss is calculated 
once the entire cost basis is distributed back to MIT or using 
information provided by managers with respect to the character 
of a distribution as being a gain or return of capital.

MIT values its investments in accordance with the principles of 
accounting standards which establish a hierarchy of valuation 
inputs based on the extent to which the inputs are observable in 
the marketplace. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained 
from sources independent of the reporting entity. Unobservable 
inputs reflect the entity’s own assumptions about how market 
participants would value an asset or liability based on the best 
information available. Valuation techniques used to measure fair 
value must maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize 
the use of unobservable inputs. MIT follows a fair value hierarchy 
based on three levels of inputs, of which the first two are 
considered observable and the last is unobservable.

The following describes the hierarchy of inputs used to measure 
fair value and the primary valuation methodologies used by MIT 
for financial instruments measured at fair value on a recurring 
basis. The three levels of inputs are as follows: 

• Level 1 – Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities. Market price data is generally obtained from relevant 
exchanges or dealer markets. 

• Level 2 – Inputs other than Level 1 that are observable, either 

directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar assets or 
liabilities, quoted prices in markets that are not active, or other 
inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable 
market data for substantially the same term of the assets or 
liabilities. Inputs are obtained from various sources including 
market participants, dealers, and brokers. 

• Level 3 – Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or 
no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the 
assets or liabilities. 

A financial instrument’s categorization within the valuation 
hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that is significant 
to the fair value measurement. Market information is considered 
when determining the proper categorization of the investment’s 
fair value measurement within the fair valuation hierarchy.  

Table 6 presents MIT’s investments at fair value as of June 30, 
2015 and 2014, grouped by the valuation hierarchy as defined 
earlier in this note. Investments that use NAV as a practical 
expedient for valuation purposes are shown separately.

Transfers between levels are recognized at the beginning of the 
reporting period. The 2015 transfers from Level 1 to Level 3 
totaled $0.1 million and transfers from Level 1 to Level 2 totaled 
$9.6 million. There were no level transfers in 2014.

Cash and cash equivalents include cash, money market funds, 
repurchase agreements and negotiable certificates of deposit and are 
valued at cost, which approximates fair value. Instruments listed or 
traded on a securities exchange are valued at the last quoted price 
on the primary exchange where the security is traded.
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Investments in non-exchange traded debt are primarily valued 
using independent pricing sources that use broker quotes or 
models using market observable inputs. Investments managed 
by external advisors include investments in absolute return, 
domestic, foreign and private equity, real estate and real asset 
commingled funds. The fair value of securities held in external 
investment funds that do not have readily determinable fair values 
are determined by the external managers based on appraisals or 
other estimates that require varying degrees of judgment, taking 
into consideration, among other things, the cost of the securities, 
prices of recent significant placements of securities of the same 
issuer, and subsequent developments concerning the companies 
to which the securities relate. Using these valuations, most of 
these external managers calculate MIT’s capital account or NAV 
in accordance with, or in a manner consistent with, GAAP. 

As a practical expedient, MIT is permitted under GAAP to estimate 
the fair value of its investments with external managers using the 
external managers’ reported NAV without further adjustment unless 
MIT expects to sell the investment at a value other than NAV or the 
NAV is not calculated in accordance with GAAP.

Level 3 investments are valued by MIT based upon valuation 
information received from the relevant entity which may include 
last trade information, third-party appraisals of real estate, or 
valuations prepared in connection with the administration of an 
employee stock ownership plan. MIT may also utilize industry 
standard valuation techniques, including discounted cash flow 
models. The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value 
measurements of MIT’s direct investments may include their cost 
of capital, and equity and industry risk premiums. Significant 
increases or decreases in these inputs in isolation may result in a 
significantly lower or higher fair value measurement, respectively. 
Split-interest agreements are generally valued at the present value 
of the future distributions expected to be received over the term 
of the agreement. 

Over-the-counter positions such as interest rate and total return 
swaps, credit default swaps, options, exchange agreements, and 
interest rate cap and floor agreements are valued using broker 
quotes or models using market observable inputs. Because the 
swaps and other over-the-counter derivative instruments have 
inputs that can usually be corroborated by observable market 
data, they are generally classified within Level 2. 

B. Investments (continued)
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B. Investments (continued)

 Table 6. Investments

(in thousands of dollars)

Quoted Prices in 
Active Markets  

(Level 1)

Significant Other 
Observable Inputs 

(Level 2)

Significant 
Unobservable Inputs 

(Level 3)

NAV as Practical 
Expedient 

(NAV)
Total Fair 

Value

Fiscal Year 2015
Cash and cash equivalents  . . . . . .       $  2,028,407 $  - $  - $  - $  2,028,407 
US Treasury . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                   795,335  -  -  -  795,335 
US Government agency . . . . . . . .          -  70,493  -  -  70,493 
Domestic bonds . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                11,917  84,072  101,763  -  197,752 
Foreign bonds  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                 21  24,582  -  -  24,603 
Common equity:
     Long domestic . . . . . . . . . . . . .               243,677  -  67,096  -  310,773 
     Long foreign . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                567,394  4,159  -  -  571,553 
     Short foreign . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                (6)  -  -  -  (6)
Equity:**
     Absolute return . . . . . . . . . . . .              -  -  -  1,734,169  1,734,169 
     Domestic . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                   -  -  -  1,880,487  1,880,487 
     Foreign . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                    -  -  -  3,504,707  3,504,707 
     Private . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                     -  -  -  3,132,869  3,132,869 
Real estate* . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                    19  6,282  1,985,878  785,536  2,777,715 
Real assets** . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                   -  -  1,260  605,612  606,872 
Split-interest agreements . . . . . . . .          -  -  146,405  -  146,405 
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                        3,985  -  3,956  -  7,941 
Derivatives . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                    47  (35,967)  -  -  (35,920)
Total investments, gross . . . . . . . .         $  3,650,796 $  153,621 $  2,306,358 $  11,643,380 $  17,754,155 
Liabilities associated with investments:
     Real estate*** . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                -  -  (220,391)  -  (220,391)
Total investments, net . .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  $  3,650,796 $  153,621 $  2,085,967 $  11,643,380 $  17,533,764 
Fiscal Year 2014
Cash and cash equivalents  . . . . . .       $  2,691,413 $  - $  - $  - $  2,691,413 
US Treasury . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                   779,831  -  -  -  779,831 
US Government agency . . . . . . . .          15  74,312  -  -  74,327 
Domestic bonds . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                15,624  91,704  97,254  -  204,582 
Foreign bonds  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                 20  22,545  -  -  22,565 
Common equity:
     Long domestic . . . . . . . . . . . . .               184,018  1  178,921  -  362,940 
     Long foreign . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                422,562  6,498  -  -  429,060 
     Short foreign . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                (5)  -  -  -  (5)
Equity:**
     Absolute return . . . . . . . . . . . .              -  -  -  1,643,868  1,643,868 
     Domestic . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                   -  -  -  1,438,048  1,438,048 
     Foreign . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                    71  -  -  2,532,278  2,532,349 
     Private . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                     -  -  -  2,783,585  2,783,585 
Real estate* . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                    9,770  -  1,773,267  860,862  2,643,899 
Real assets** . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                   -  -  10,464  704,042  714,506 
Split-interest agreements . . . . . . . .          -  -  147,182  -  147,182 
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                        8,713  -  9,721  -  18,434 
Derivatives . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                    82  (26,722)  -  -  (26,640)
Total investments, gross . . . . . . . .         $  4,112,114 $  168,338 $  2,216,809 $  9,962,683 $  16,459,944 
Liabilities associated with investments:
     Real estate*** . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                -  -  (231,188)  -  (231,188)
Total investments, net . .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  $  4,112,114 $  168,338 $  1,985,621 $  9,962,683 $  16,228,756 

* Real estate includes direct investments and investments held through commingled vehicles.
** Real assets and equity categories include commingled vehicles that invest in these types of investments.
*** Interest rates are 3.75% to 4.54%. Maturities are in calendar years 2023 and 2030. Principal payments range from $5.4 million in 
fiscal year 2016 to $40.9 million in fiscal year 2030.
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B. Investments (continued)
Table 7 is a rollforward of the investments classified by MIT within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy defined earlier in this footnote at 
June 30, 2015 and 2014. 

All net realized and unrealized gains and losses relating to financial 
instruments held by MIT shown in Table 6 are reflected in the 
Statement of Activities. Cumulative unrealized gains related to 
Level 3 investments totaled $948.9 million and $770.2 million 
as of June 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The net change in 
unrealized gains (losses) related to Level 3 investments held by MIT 
at June 30, 2015, and June 30, 2014, are disclosed in Table 7.

MIT enters into short sales whereby it sells securities that may 
or may not be owned by MIT in anticipation of a decline in the 
price of such securities or in order to hedge portfolio positions. 
Cash collateral and certain securities owned by MIT were held 
at counterparty brokers to collateralize these positions and are 
included in investments on the Statements of Financial Position.

Table 7. Rollforward of Level 3 Investments

(in thousands of dollars)
Fair Value 
Beginning

Realized Gains 
(Losses)

Unrealized 
Gains (Losses) Purchases Sales Transfers

Fair Value 
Ending

Fiscal Year 2015
Domestic bonds . . . . . . . . . .           $  97,254 $  - $  - $  13,276 $  (8,767) $  - $  101,763 

Common equity:
     Long domestic  . . . . . . . .          178,921  402  (104,853)  600  (7,989)  15  67,096 

     Short domestic  . . . . . . . .          -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Equity:
       Private . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Real estate  . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                1,773,267  76,933  289,303  193,540  (347,265)  100  1,985,878 

Real assets  . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                10,464  -  (9,204)  -  -  -  1,260 

Split-interest agreements  . . .     147,182  3,902  3,396  1,298  (9,373)  -  146,405 

Other  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                   9,721  (183)  78  3  (5,663)  -  3,956 

Total, gross  . . . . . . . . . . . . .              $  2,216,809 $  81,054 $  178,720 $  208,717 $  (379,057) $  115 $  2,306,358 

Real estate liabilities  . . . . . .        (231,188)  -  -  (75,000)  85,797  -  (220,391)

Total, net  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  $  1,985,621 $  81,054 $  178,720 $  133,717 $  (293,260) $  115 $  2,085,967 

Fiscal Year 2014
Domestic bonds  . . . . . . . . .          $  86,895 $  - $  - $  20,530 $  (10,171) $  - $  97,254 

Common equity:  - 

     Long domestic  . . . . . . . .          241,381  (25)  (62,335)  7,575  (7,675)  -  178,921 

     Short domestic  . . . . . . . .          (3)  (5)  2  6  -  -  - 

Equity:
       Private . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                33,814  17,585  (16,530)  -  (34,869)  -  - 

Real estate  . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                1,481,564  41,082  174,988  398,134  (323,010)  509  1,773,267 

Real assets  . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                9,602  -  862  -  -  -  10,464 

Split-interest agreements  . . .     148,297  634  9,597  4,716  (16,062)  -  147,182 

Other  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                   2,445  5  272  7,587  (79)  (509)  9,721 

Total, gross  . . . . . . . . . . . . .              $  2,003,995 $  59,276 $  106,856 $  438,548 $  (391,866) $  - $  2,216,809 

Real estate liabilities  . . . . . .        (82,000)  -  -  (150,000)  812  -  (231,188)

Total, net  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  $  1,921,995 $  59,276 $  106,856 $  288,548 $  (391,054) $  - $  1,985,621 
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(in thousands of dollars)

Fair Value at 
June 30, 2015

Fair Value at 
June 30, 2014 Valuation Technique

Unobservable 
Inputs

2015 
Rates

2014 
Rates

Real estate  . . . . . . . . . . . .            $  1,765,362  $  1,542,069  Discounted cash flow  Discount Rate 4.8–9.0% 5.5–9.0%
Equity securities . . . . . . . .         50,653  162,416  Discounted cash flow  Discount Rate 15.3% 15.3%
Split-interest agreements . .  110,722  111,358  Net present value  Discount Rate 2.25% 2.20%
Real assets . . . . . . . . . . . .  1,260  10,464  Discount to public price  Discount 20.0% 20.0%
Other illiquid assets . . . . .      426  1,761  Varies  Varies Varies Varies
Total assets  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . $  1,928,423 $  1,828,068 

Asset Type

Table 8 below sets forth a summary of valuation techniques and quantitative information utilized in determining the fair value of 
MIT’s Level 3 investments as of June 30, 2015 and 2014.

B. Investments (continued)

Certain investments in real estate, equities, and private 
investments may be subject to restrictions that (i) limit MIT’s 
ability to withdraw capital after such investment and (ii) 
may limit the amount that may be withdrawn as of a given 
redemption date. Most absolute return, domestic equity, and 
foreign equity commingled funds limit withdrawals to monthly, 
quarterly, or other periods, and may require notice periods. In 
addition, certain of these funds are able to designate a portion of 
the investments as illiquid in “side-pockets,” and these funds may 
not be available for withdrawal until liquidated by the investing 
fund. Generally, MIT has no discretion as to withdrawal with 

respect to its investment in private equity and real estate funds.  
Distributions are made when sales of assets are made within these 
funds and the investment cycle for these funds can be as long 
as 15 to 20 years. These restrictions may limit MIT’s ability to 
respond quickly to changes in market conditions. MIT does have 
various sources of liquidity at its disposal, including cash, cash 
equivalents, marketable debt and equity securities, and lines of 
credit.

Details on the current redemption terms and restrictions by asset 
class and type of investment are provided in Table 9.  

 Table 8. Level 3 Valuation Techniques

Table 9. Unfunded Commitments
2015 2014

 
(in thousands of dollars)

Unfunded 
Commitments Fair Value

Unfunded 
Commitments Fair Value

Redemption 
Terms

Redemption 
Restrictions

Equity:
     Domestic . . . . . . .        $  1,923 $  1,880,487 $  9,983 $  1,438,048 Redemption terms range from 

30 days with 2 months notice 
to 2 years with 3 months notice 
and 1 closed-end fund not 
available for redemption

Lock-up provisions 
range from none to 
5 years; 1 fund is 
not redeemable

     Foreign . . . . . . . .          56,640  3,504,707  60,880  2,532,278 Redemption terms range from 
daily with 1 month notice to 3 
years with 6 months notice and 
1 closed-end fund not available 
for redemption

Lock-up provisions 
range from none to 
5 years; 1 fund is 
not redeemable

     Absolute return . . .   218,025  1,734,169  171,070  1,643,868 Redemption terms range from 
45 days with 2 months notice 
to closed-end funds which are 
not redeemable

Lock-up provisions 
range from none to 
not redeemable

     Private . . . . . . . . .           1,131,554  3,132,869  1,337,144  2,783,585 Closed-end funds not available 
for redemption

Not redeemable

Real estate  . . . . . . . .          483,951  785,536  428,209  860,862 Closed-end funds not available 
for redemption

Not redeemable

Real assets . . . . . . . . .  116,346  605,612  140,549  704,042 Redemption terms range from 
4 months with 1 month notice 
to 8 months with 45 days 
notice for 2 funds with all other 
funds being closed-end and not 
redeemable

Not redeemable 
except for 2 funds 
with no lock-up 
provisions

Total  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  $  2,008,439 $  11,643,380 $  2,147,835 $  9,962,683 

Asset Class
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B. Investments (continued)

MIT maintains an interest rate swap agreement to manage the 
interest cost and risk associated with a portion of its variable rate 
debt, described in Note G. Under the agreement, MIT pays a 
fixed rate of 4.91 percent and receives a payment indexed to the 
Securities Industry and Financial Market Association (SIFMA) on 
a notional amount of $125.0 million. At June 30, 2015, the swap 
agreement had a total fair value of ($48.1) million and at June 30, 
2014 had a fair value of ($41.3) million. This swap had a total net 
loss for 2015 of $6.8 million and a total net loss of $0.6 million 
for 2014. The notional amount of this derivative is not recorded 
on MIT’s Statements of Financial Position.

For its investment management, MIT uses a variety of financial 
instruments with off-balance sheet risk involving contractual or 
optional commitments for future settlement. MIT uses these 
instruments primarily to manage its exposure to extreme market 
events and fluctuations in asset classes or currencies. Instruments 
utilized include futures, total return and credit default swaps, 
and interest rate cap and swaption agreements. The futures are 
exchange-traded and the swap, swaptions, and cap agreements are 
executed over the counter. 

Total return swaps involve commitments to pay interest in 
exchange for a market-linked return, both based on notional 
amounts. To the extent the total return of the security or index 
underlying the transaction exceeds or falls short of the offsetting 
interest rate obligation, MIT will receive a payment from or make 
a payment to the counterparty.

MIT’s portfolio of interest rate caps and swaptions is designed 
for protection from significant increases in interest rates. An 
interest rate swaption is an option to enter into an interest rate 
swap agreement on pre-set terms at a future date. The purchaser 
and seller of the swaption agree on the expiration date, option 
type, exercise style, the terms of the underlying swap and the type 
of settlement. As the expiration date approaches, the swaption 

holder can either notify the seller of its intention to exercise or 
let the option expire. An interest rate cap places a ceiling on a 
floating rate of interest on a specified notional principal amount 
for a specific term. The buyer of the cap uses the cap contract to 
limit its maximum interest rate exposure. If the buyer’s floating 
rate rises above the cap strike, the cap contract provides for 
payments from the seller to the buyer of the cap for the difference 
between the floating rate and the cap strike. If the floating rate 
remains below the cap strike, no payments are required. The 
cap buyer is required to pay an upfront fee or premium for 
the cap. The cap premium charged by the seller depends upon 
the market’s assessment of the probability that rates will move 
through the cap strike over the time horizon of the deal. The 
payoff is expected to occur in extreme market conditions that 
would negatively impact MIT’s other assets. 

Table 10 summarizes the notional exposure and net ending fair 
value relative to the financial instruments with off-balance sheet 
risk as of June 30, 2015 and 2014, related to MIT’s investment 
management. Derivatives held by limited partnerships and 
commingled investment vehicles pose no off-balance sheet risk to 
MIT due to the limited liability structure of these investments.  
To manage the counterparty credit exposure of MIT’s direct 
off-balance sheet financial instruments, MIT requires collateral 
to the maximum extent possible under normal trading practices.  
Collateral is moved on a daily basis as required by fluctuations 
in the market. The collateral is generally in the form of debt 
obligations issued by the US Treasury or cash. In the event of 
counterparty default, MIT has the right to use the collateral to 
offset the loss associated with the replacement of the agreements.  
MIT enters into arrangements only with counterparties believed 
to be creditworthy. On June 30, 2015, cash collateral and certain 
securities owned by MIT were held at counterparty brokers to 
collateralize these positions and are included in investments on 
the Statements of Financial Position.

C. Derivative Financial Instruments and Collateral

MIT performs ongoing due diligence to determine that 
investment fair value is reasonable as of June 30, 2015 and 
2014. In particular, to ensure that the valuation techniques for 
investments that are categorized within the fair value hierarchy 
are fair, consistent, and verifiable, MIT has established a 
Valuation Committee (the “Committee”) that oversees the 
valuation processes and procedures and ensures that the policies 
are fair and consistently applied. The Committee is responsible 
for conducting annual reviews of the valuation policies, 
evaluating the overall fairness and consistent application of the 
valuation policies, and performing specific reviews of certain 
valuations reported. The Committee performs due diligence over 
the external managers and, based on this review, substantiates 
NAV as a practical expedient for estimates of fair value of its 

investments in external managers. The Committee is composed 
of senior personnel and contains members who are independent 
of investment functions. The Committee meets annually, or more 
frequently, as needed. Members of the Valuation Committee 
report annually to MIT’s Risk and Audit Committee. The 
methods described previously in this footnote may produce a 
fair value that may not be indicative of net realizable value or 
reflective of future fair values. While MIT believes its valuation 
methods are appropriate and consistent with those of other 
market participants, the use of different methodologies or 
assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial 
instruments could result in a different estimate of fair value at the 
reporting date.
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C. Derivative Financial Instruments and Collateral (continued)

Table 10. Derivative Financial Instruments

Notional Exposure

(in thousands of dollars) Long Short
Net Ending 
Fair Value *

Net Gain 
(Loss)**

Fiscal Year 2015

Fixed income instruments:

     Fixed income futures . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                          $  3,500 $  (3,400) $  47 $  (82)

     Options on interest rate exchange agreements . . . . . . .        1,702,000  -  8,800  (10,476)

     Interest rate caps and floors . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                      1,000,000  -  96  (485)

     Interest rate swaps . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                             -  -  -  - 

Total fixed income instruments  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                     2,705,500  (3,400)  8,943  (11,043)

Commodity and index instruments:

     Equity index swaps . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                            -  (212,335)  5,046  (25,954)

Total commodity and index instruments  . . . . . . . . . . . . .              -  (212,335)  5,046  (25,954)

Credit instruments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                               -  (73,203)  (1,829)  9 

2015 Total .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . $  2,705,500 $  (288,938) $  12,160 $  (36,988)

Fiscal Year 2014

Fixed income instruments:

     Fixed income futures . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                          $  - $  (19,500) $  82 $  126 

     Options on interest rate exchange agreements . . . . . . .        2,090,500  (55,000)  19,276  (17,341)

     Interest rate caps and floors . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                      1,000,000  -  581  (1,928)

     Interest rate swaps . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                             -  -  -  (2,059)

Total fixed income instruments  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                     3,090,500  (74,500)  19,939  (21,202)

Commodity and index instruments:

     Equity index swaps . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                            -  (47,519)  (2,548)  (4,958)

Total commodity and index instruments  . . . . . . . . . . . . .              -  (47,519)  (2,548)  (4,958)

Credit instruments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                               10,269  (115,938)  (2,725)  (2,090)

2014 Total .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . $  3,100,769 $  (237,957) $  14,666 $  (28,250)

* The fair value of all credit derivative instruments is reflected in investments, at fair value in the Statements of Financial Position.
** Net gain (loss) of the credit derivative instruments is located in the non-operating section as net gain (loss) on investments and other assets in 
the Statement of Activities.
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C. Derivative Financial Instruments and Collateral (continued)

Table 11 provides further details related to MIT’s credit 
instruments and summarizes the notional amounts and fair value 
of the purchased and written credit derivatives, classified by the 
expiration terms and the external credit ratings of the reference 
obligations at June 30, 2015 and 2014. 

The act of entering into a credit default swap contract is often 
referred to as “buying protection” or “selling protection” on an 
underlying reference obligation. The buyer is obligated to make 
premium payments to the seller over the term of the contract in 
return for a contingent payment upon the occurrence of a credit 
event with respect to the underlying obligation. The seller bears 
the obligation to “protect” the buyer in the event of default of 

the underlying issuer. Upon this event, the cash payment which 
the buyer receives is equal to the clearing price established by 
an auction of credit default swap claims, which is designed to 
approximate the recovery value of an unsecured claim on the 
issuer in default. The swap will last for a predetermined amount 
of time, typically five years. Upon termination of the swap, the 
buyer is no longer obligated to make any premium payments and 
there is no other exchange of capital.

   Table 11. Credit Derivative Instruments 

Purchased Protection Written Protection Notional Amount

Purchased 
Notional 
Amounts

Purchased Fair 
Value*

Written 
Notional 
Amounts

Offsetting 
Purchased 

Credit 
Protection **

Net 
Written 
Credit 

Protection

Net Written 
Credit 

Protection 
Fair Value(in thousands of dollars) < 5 Years 5–10 Years

Fiscal Year 2015

Credit rating on underlying or index:
A- to AAA .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . $  44,571 $  (1,109) $  10,000 $  34,571 $ - $ - $  - $  - 
BBB- to BBB+ .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  28,632  (720)  5,175  23,457  -  -  -  - 

2015 Total . .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . $  73,203 $  (1,829) $  15,175 $  58,028 $  - $  - $  - $  - 

Fiscal Year 2014

Credit rating on underlying or index:

A- to AAA .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . $  68,692 $  (1,789) $  15,000 $  53,692 $  10,269 $  - $  - $  120 

BBB- to BBB+ .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  36,977  (975)  5,000  31,977  -  (10,269)  -  (81)

2014 Total . .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . $  105,669 $  (2,764) $  20,000 $  85,669 $  10,269 $  (10,269) $  - $  39 

Years to Maturity

* The fair value of all credit derivative instruments is reflected in investments, at fair value in the Statements of Financial Position.
** Net gain (loss) of the credit derivative instruments is located in the non-operating section as net gain (loss) on investments and other assets in 
the Statement of Activities.
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Counterparty risk may be partially or completely mitigated 
through master netting agreements included within an 
International Swap and Derivatives Association, Inc. (“ISDA”) 
Master Agreement between MIT and each of its counterparties. 
The ISDA Master Agreement allows MIT to offset with the 
counterparty certain derivative instruments’ payables and/
or receivables with collateral held with each counterparty. To 
the extent amounts due from the counterparties are not fully 

collateralized contractually or otherwise, there is the risk of 
loss from counterparty non-performance. As of June 30, 2015, 
MIT has elected not to offset recognized assets and liabilities 
in the Statements of Financial Position Investments Table. The 
following tables, 12 and 13, summarize the effect that offsetting 
of recognized assets and liabilities could have in the Statements of 
Financial Position Investments Table.

C. Derivative Financial Instruments and Collateral (continued)

Maximum risk of loss from counterparty credit risk on over-
the-counter derivatives is generally the aggregate unrealized 
appreciation in excess of any collateral pledged by the 
counterparty. ISDA Master Agreements allow MIT or the 
counterparties to an over-the-counter derivative to terminate the 

contract prior to maturity in the event either party fails to meet 
the terms in the ISDA Master Agreements. This would cause an 
accelerated payment of net liability, if owed to the counterparty.

Table 12. Offsetting of Financial and Derivative Assets and Liabilities

2015 2014

(in thousands of dollars)
Gross 

Amount

Cash/Treasury 
Collateral 
Posted/

(Received)
Net 

Amount
Gross 

Amount

Cash/Treasury 
Collateral 
Posted/

(Received)
Net 

Amount

Assets
Counterparty A  . . . . . . . . . . . .             $  4,184 $  (4,386) $  (202) $  9,250  $  (9,519)  $  (269)
Counterparty B  . . . . . . . . . . . .              59,895  (61,220)  (1,325)  46,243  (47,385)  (1,142)
Counterparty C . . . . . . . . . . . .              -  -  -  27  -  27 
Counterparty D . . . . . . . . . . . .              -  -  -  -  -  - 
Counterparty E  . . . . . . . . . . . .              -  -  -  -  -  - 
Counterparty F  . . . . . . . . . . . .              -  -  -  -  -  - 
Counterparty G . . . . . . . . . . . .              30,088  (31,004)  (916)  38,924  (39,709)  (785)
Counterparty H . . . . . . . . . . . .              -  -  -  42,200  (43,165)  (965)
Counterparty I . . . . . . . . . . . . .               -  -  -  -  -  - 
Counterparty J . . . . . . . . . . . . .               -  -  -  -  -  - 
Counterparty K . . . . . . . . . . . .              9,759  (12,495)  (2,736)  10,646  (10,599)  47 
Total assets  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .   103,926  (109,105)  (5,179)  147,290  (150,377)  (3,087)
Liabilities
Counterparty A  . . . . . . . . . . . .              (2)  -  (2)  (108)  130  22 
Counterparty B  . . . . . . . . . . . .              (470)  720  250  (692)  720  28 
Counterparty C . . . . . . . . . . . .              (201)  -  (201)  -  -  - 
Counterparty D . . . . . . . . . . . .              (470)  721  251  (362)  305  (57)
Counterparty E  . . . . . . . . . . . .              -  -  -  (51)  205  154 
Counterparty F  . . . . . . . . . . . .              -  -  -  (399)  335  (64)
Counterparty G . . . . . . . . . . . .              (48,081)  -  (48,081)  (41,300)  -  (41,300)
Counterparty H . . . . . . . . . . . .              -  -  -  -  -  - 
Counterparty I . . . . . . . . . . . . .               (316)  420  104  (378)  420  42 
Counterparty J . . . . . . . . . . . . .               (369)  415  46  (801)  770  (31)
Counterparty K . . . . . . . . . . . .              -  -  -  (2,549)  2,549  - 
Total liabilities  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .   (49,909)  2,276  (47,633)  (46,640)  5,434  (41,206)
Total assets and liabilities, net $  54,017  $  (106,829)  $  (52,812) $  100,650  $  (144,943)  $  (44,293)
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Table 14 below shows the time periods in which pledges 
receivable at June 30, 2015 and 2014 are expected to be realized. 

A review of pledges is periodically made with regard to 
collectability. As a result, the allowance for pledges that may not 
be fulfilled is adjusted, and some pledges have been cancelled and 
are no longer recorded in the financial statements. Pledges are 
discounted in the amount of $35.5 million and $36.8 million in 
2015 and 2014, respectively. MIT has gross conditional pledges, 
not recorded, for the promotion of education and research of 
$76.6 million and $39.3 million in 2015 and 2014, respectively. 
MIT has pledges receivable relating to research in the amount of 
$28.3 million and $21.4 million in 2015 and 2014, respectively.

Pledges receivable are classified as Level 3 under the valuation 
hierarchy described in Note B. 

Table 15 below is a rollforward of the pledges receivable at June 
30, 2015 and 2014.

D. Pledges Receivable

    Table 14. Pledges Receivable

Table 15. Rollforward of Pledges Receivable

C. Derivative Financial Instruments and Collateral (continued)

Table 13 below reconciles the net recognized assets and liabilities, as shown in Table 12, to derivative financial instruments as shown in 
Table 6. 

Table 13. Reconciliation of Financial and Derivative Assets and Liabilities 

(in thousands of dollars) 2015 2014

Derivatives from Table 6 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                       $  (35,920) $  (26,640)
Repurchase agreements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                         89,984  127,372 
Fixed income futures  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                          (47)  (82)
Total  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  $  54,017 $  100,650 

(in thousands of dollars) 2015 2014

In one year or less . . . . . . . . . .           $  192,149 $  156,094 
Between one year and five years  393,518  227,752 
More than five years . . . . . . . .          34,218  160,760 
Less: allowance for unfulfilled 
   pledges  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                  (61,790)  (54,270)
Pledges receivable, net  .  .  .  .  .   $  558,095  $  490,336 

(in thousands of dollars) 2015 2014

Balance at beginning of the year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                            $  490,336 $  404,594 
New pledges . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                            201,495  191,973 
Pledge payments received . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                  (127,446)  (94,377)
Decrease (increase) in pledge discount . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                        1,230  (2,534)
Increase in reserve for unfulfilled pledges . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                      (7,520)  (9,320)
Balance at the end of the year . .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .   $  558,095  $  490,336 
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E. Student Notes Receivable

Table 16 below details the components of student notes receivable at June 30, 2015 and 2014.

Table 16. Student Notes Receivable

Perkins student notes receivable are funded by the US 
Government and by MIT. Funds advanced by the US 
Government for this program are ultimately refundable to the US 
Government and are classified as liabilities in US Government 
advances for student loans in the Statements of Financial 
Position. Due to the nature and terms of the student loans, 
which are subject to significant restrictions, it is not feasible to 
determine the fair value of such loans.

Allowance for Credit Losses
Management regularly assesses the adequacy of the allowance for 
credit losses by performing ongoing evaluations of the student 
loan portfolio, including such factors as the differing economic 
risks associated with each loan category, the financial condition 
of specific borrowers, the economic environment in which the 
borrowers operate, the level of delinquent loans, the value of any 
collateral and, where applicable, the existence of any guarantees 
or indemnifications. MIT’s Perkins loans receivable represents the 
amounts due from current and former students under the Federal 
Perkins Loan Program. Loans disbursed under the Federal Perkins 
Loan Program are able to be assigned to the US Government in 
certain non-repayment situations. In these situations, the Federal 
portion of the loan balance is guaranteed. 

Factors also considered by management when performing its 
assessment, in addition to general economic conditions and the 
other factors described above, included, but were not limited to, 
a detailed review of the aging of the student loan receivable and a 
review of the default rate by loan category in comparison to prior 
years. The level of the allowance is adjusted based on the results of 
management’s analysis. 

Loans less than 120 days delinquent are deemed to have a 
minimal delay in payment and are generally not written off but 
are reserved in accordance with the terms discussed above. Loans 
more than 120 days delinquent are subject to standard collection 
practices, including litigation. Only loans that are deemed 
uncollectible are written off and this only occurs after several 
years of unsuccessful collection, including placement at more 
than one external collection agency.

Considering the other factors already discussed herein, 
management considers the allowance for credit losses at June 
30, 2015 and 2014 to be prudent and reasonable. Furthermore, 
MIT’s allowance is general in nature and is available to absorb 
losses from any loan category. Management believes that the 
allowance for credit losses at June 30, 2015 and 2014 is adequate 
to absorb credit losses inherent in the portfolio as of that date. 

Changes in the allowance for credit losses for the years ended June 
30, 2015 and 2014 were as shown in Table 17.

Table 17. Rollforward of Allowance for Credit Losses

(in thousands of dollars) 2015 2014

Institute-funded student notes receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                             $  12,894 $  13,426 
Perkins student notes receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                     35,784  37,743 
Total student notes receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                       48,678  51,169 
Less: allowance for doubtful accounts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                 (3,000)  (3,000)
Student notes receivable, net  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .   $  45,678  $  48,169 

(in thousands of dollars) 2015 2014

Balance at beginning of the year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                 $  3,000 $  3,000 
Provision for credit losses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                       264  126 
Net charge-offs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                               (264)  (126)
Balance at the end of the year . .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  $  3,000  $  3,000 
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F. Accounts Payable, Accruals, and Other Liabilities 

G. Borrowings

Fair value of the outstanding debt is approximately 9 and 11 percent greater than the carrying value in 2015 and 2014, respectively. It 
is classified as Level 3 under the valuation hierarchy described in Note B. Fair value is based on estimates using current interest rates 
available for similarly rated debt of the same remaining maturities for tax-exempt debt and rates for recent trades for taxable debt.

MIT’s accounts payable, accruals, and other liabilities at June 30, 2015 and 2014 are shown in Table 18 below.

MIT’s outstanding borrowings at June 30, 2015 and 2014 are shown in Table 19 below.

Table 18. Accounts Payable, Accruals, and Other Liabilities

Table 19. Borrowings

(in thousands of dollars) 2015 2014

Accounts payable and accruals . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                  $  373,825 $  352,668 
Accrued vacation  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                             62,463  59,291 
Total  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .   $  436,288  $  411,959 

* The proceeds of Taxable Bonds, Series B and C were held as investments as of June 30, 2014 and were in the process of being invested in physical assets
as of June 30, 2015.
** Series D is an advance refunding, defeasing portions of Series N and Series O.

(in thousands of dollars / due dates are calendar based / par values as of 2015) 2015 2014

Educational plant
Massachusetts Development Finance Agency (MassDevelopment)
Series I, 5.20%, due 2028, par value $30,000 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $  30,723 $  30,781 
Series J-1, variable rate, due 2031 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                             125,000  125,000 
Series J-2, variable rate, due 2031 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                             125,000  125,000 
Series K, 5.25%–5.5%, due 2012–2032, par value $203,500 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                        213,010  213,673 
Series L, 3.0%–5.25%, due 2004–2033, par value $141,670 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                        150,357  151,017 
Series M, 5.25%, due 2014–2030, par value $122,000  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                            130,264  140,437 
Series N, par value $0 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                      -  327,965 
Series O, 4.0%–5.0%, due 2017, par value $88,000  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                              89,117  268,716 
Total MassDevelopment .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .   $  863,471  $  1,382,589 
Medium Term Notes Series A, 7.125%, due 2026, par value $17,415 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                 17,371  17,367 
Medium Term Notes Series A, 7.25%, due 2096, par value $45,604 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                  45,451  45,449 
Taxable Bonds, Series B, 5.60%, due 2111, par value $750,000* . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                     747,019  746,987 
Taxable Bonds, Series C, 4.68%, due 2114, par value $550,000* . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                     550,000  550,000 
Taxable Bonds, Series D, 2.051–3.959%, due 2019-2038, par value $522,410** . . . . . . .         522,410  - 
Notes payable to bank, variable rate, due 2017 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                   113,033  83,033 
Total Taxable .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .   $  1,995,284  $  1,442,836 
Total educational plant . .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .    $   2,858,755   $   2,825,425 
Other
Notes payable to bank, variable rate, due 2017 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                   63,476  93,476 
Total borrowings . .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .   $  2,922,231  $  2,918,901 
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Federal Government Funding 

MIT receives funding or reimbursement from Federal agencies 
for sponsored research under Government grants and contracts. 
These grants and contracts provide for reimbursement of indirect 
costs based on rates negotiated with the Office of Naval Research 
(ONR), MIT’s cognizant Federal agency. MIT’s indirect cost 
reimbursements have been based on fixed rates with carryforward 
of under-or over-recoveries. At June 30, 2015 and 2014, MIT 
recorded a net over-recovery of $19.5 million and $14.9 million, 
respectively. 

The DCAA is responsible for auditing indirect charges to grants 
and contracts in support of ONR’s negotiating responsibility. 
MIT has final audited rates through 2009. MIT’s 2015 research 
revenues of $1,576.6 million include reimbursement of indirect 
costs of $217.9 million, which includes the adjustment for the 
variance between the indirect cost income determined by the 
fixed rates and actual costs for 2015. In 2014, research revenues 
were $1,523.8 million, which included reimbursement of indirect 
costs of $225.6 million. 

Leases 
At June 30, 2015, there were no capital lease obligations. MIT is 
committed under certain operating (rental) leases. Rent expense 
incurred under operating lease obligations was $41.3 million and 
$45.1 million in 2015 and 2014, respectively. Future minimum 
payments under operating leases are shown in Table 22 below.

Investments 
As of June 30, 2015, $11.3 million of investments were pledged 
as collateral to various suppliers and Government agencies.

H. Commitments and Contingencies 

The aggregate amounts of debt payments and sinking fund 
requirements for each of the next five fiscal years are shown in 
Table 20 below.

MIT maintains a line of credit with a major financial institution 
for an aggregate commitment of $500.0 million. As of June 30, 
2015, $323.5 million was available under this line of credit. The 
line of credit expires on March 31, 2017. 

During 2015, MIT issued $522.4 million in Series D taxable 
bonds to advance refund and defease $275.2 million of Series N 
and $178.5 million of Series O tax-exempt bonds.

Cash paid for interest on long-term debt in 2015 and 2014 was 
$128.9 million and $107.2 million, respectively.

Variable interest rates at June 30, 2015 are shown in Table 21 
below.

In the event that MIT receives notice of any optional tender on 
its Series J-1 and Series J-2 variable-rate bonds, or if these bonds 
become subject to mandatory tender, the purchase price of the 
bonds will be paid from the remarketing of such bonds. However, 
if the remarketing proceeds are insufficient, MIT will be obligated 
to purchase the bonds tendered at 100 percent of par on the 
tender date.

G. Borrowings (continued)

Table 20. Debt Principal Obligations

Table 21. Variable Interest Rates(in thousands of dollars)

2016 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $  9,585 
2017 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  98,090 
2018 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  26,500 
2019 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  92,410 
2020 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  10,620 

(in thousands of dollars) Amount Rate

MassDevelopment Series J-1  . . . . . .       $  125,000 0.05%
MassDevelopment Series J-2  . . . . . .        125,000 0.06%
Notes payable to bank  . . . . . . . . . . .             176,509 0.79%

Table 22. Lease Obligations

(in thousands of dollars)

2016 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $  38,713 
2017 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  39,888 
2018 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  38,761 
2019 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  28,323 
2020 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  28,934 

* The proceeds of Taxable Bonds, Series B and C were held as investments as of June 30, 2014 and were in the process of being invested in physical assets
as of June 30, 2015.
** Series D is an advance refunding, defeasing portions of Series N and Series O.
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H. Commitments and Contingencies (continued)

I. Functional Expense Classification 

J. Retirement Benefits

MIT’s expenditures on a functional basis are shown in Table 23 below.

MIT offers a defined benefit plan and a defined contribution 
plan to its employees. The plans cover substantially all MIT 
employees. 

MIT also offers a postretirement welfare benefit plan (certain 
healthcare and life insurance benefits) for retired employees. 
Substantially all MIT employees may become eligible for those 
benefits if they reach a qualifying retirement age while working 
for MIT. The healthcare component of the welfare plan is paid 
for in part by retirees, their covered dependents, and beneficiaries. 
Benefits are provided through various insurance companies 
whose charges are based either on the claims and administrative 
expenses paid during the year or annual insured premiums. 
The life insurance component of the welfare plan includes basic 
life insurance and supplemental life insurance. The basic life 
insurance plan is non-contributory and covers the retiree only. 
The supplemental life insurance plan is paid for by the retiree. 
MIT maintains a trust to pay for postretirement welfare benefits. 

MIT contributes to the defined benefit plan amounts that 
are actuarially determined to provide the retirement plan 

with sufficient assets to meet future benefit requirements. 
There was a $7.5 million and a $20.4 million contribution 
to the defined benefit plan in 2015 and 2014, respectively. 
MIT also contributed $28.7 million and $31.5 million to 
the postretirement welfare benefit plan in 2015 and 2014, 
respectively.

For purposes of calculating net periodic cost for the defined 
benefit plan, plan amendments are amortized on a straight-line 
basis over the average future service to expected retirement of 
active participants at the date of the amendment. Cumulative 
gains and losses (including changes in assumptions) in excess of 
10 percent of the greater of the projected benefit obligation or 
the market-related value of assets are amortized over the average 
future service of active participants. The annual amortization 
shall not be less than the total amount of unrecognized gains and 
losses up to $1.0 million.

Future Construction 

MIT has contracted for the educational plant in the amount of 
$225.4 million at June 30, 2015. It is expected that the resources 
to satisfy these commitments will be provided from unexpended 
plant funds, anticipated gifts, and unrestricted funds. MIT will be 
committing additional resources to planned major construction 
projects and improvements to the current infrastructure over the 
next several years. 

Related Entities 

MIT has entered into agreements, including collaborations 
with third-party not-for-profit, and for-profit entities, for 
education, research, and technology transfers. Some of these 

agreements involve funding from foreign governments. These 
agreements subject MIT to greater financial risk than do its 
normal operations. In the opinion of management, the likelihood 
of realization of increased financial risks by MIT under these 
agreements is remote. 

General 

MIT is subject to certain other legal proceedings and claims 
that arise in the normal course of operations. In the opinion of 
management, the ultimate outcome of these actions will not have 
a material effect on MIT’s financial position.

Table 23. Expenditures by Functional Classification

(in thousands of dollars) 2015 2014

General and administrative . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                    $  763,680 $  713,103 
Instruction and unsponsored research . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                             811,495  777,382 
Sponsored research . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                            1,386,334  1,283,189 
Auxiliary enterprises . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                           134,076  129,692 
Operation of Alumni Association . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                 15,534  15,151 
Total operating expenses  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  $  3,111,119  $  2,918,517 
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J. Retirement Benefits (continued)

The amount contributed and expenses recognized during 2015 
and 2014 related to the defined contribution plan were $51.5 
million and $48.6 million, respectively.

For purposes of calculating net periodic cost for the 
postretirement welfare benefit plan, a portion of the current 
obligation related to the transition to the accounting standard 
Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other than 
Pensions was amortized on a straight-line basis over 20 years from 
the date of adoption of that statement in 1994. 

Plan amendments are amortized on a straight-line basis over the 
average future service to full eligibility of active participants at 
the date of amendment. Cumulative gains and losses (including 
changes in assumptions) in excess of 10 percent of the greater 
of the plan’s obligation or the market-related value of assets are 
amortized over the average future service of active participants. 
The annual amortization shall not be less than the total amount 
of unrecognized gains and losses up to $1.0 million.

Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost 
Table 24 summarizes the components of net periodic benefit cost recognized in operating activity and other amounts recognized in 
non-operating activity in unrestricted net assets for the years ended June 30, 2015 and 2014.

The estimated net actuarial loss and prior service cost for the 
defined benefit plan that will be amortized from unrestricted net 
assets into net periodic benefit cost during the next fiscal year 
are $20.1 million and $1.0 million, respectively. The estimated 

net actuarial loss and prior service credit for the postretirement 
welfare benefit plan that will be amortized from unrestricted net 
assets into net periodic benefit cost during the next fiscal year are 
$1.0 million and $(2.8) million, respectively.

Table 24. Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost

Defined Benefit Plan Postretirement Welfare Benefit Plan

(in thousands of dollars) 2015 2014 2015 2014

Components of net periodic benefit cost recognized 
   in operating activity:
Service cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                 $  80,840 $  71,661 $  25,950 $  22,079 
Interest cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                 141,805  141,213  24,453  24,210 
Expected return on plan assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                   (223,648)  (207,532)  (30,623)  (27,204)
Amortization of net actuarial loss  . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                24,596  14,066  6,064  5,822 
Amortization of prior service cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                 953  953  (2,801)  (2,801)

Net periodic benefit cost recognized in operating activity $  24,546 $  20,361 $  23,043 $  22,106 
Other amounts recognized in non-operating activity 
   in unrestricted net assets:
Current year actuarial loss (gain)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                 56,748  (25,547)  (41,250)  (10,811)
Amortization of actuarial gain  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                   (24,596)  (14,066)  (6,064)  (5,822)
Amortization of prior service cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                 (953)  (953)  2,801  2,801 

Total other amounts recognized in non-operating activity $  31,199 $  (40,566) $  (44,513) $  (13,832)
Total recognized .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  $  55,745 $  (20,205) $  (21,470) $  8,274 
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Cumulative amounts recognized as non-operating changes in unrestricted net assets are summarized in Table 25 for the years ended 
June 30, 2015 and 2014.	

Benefit Obligations and Fair Value of Assets
Table 26 summarizes the benefit obligations, plan assets, and amounts recognized in the Statements of Financial Position for MIT’s 
retirement benefit plans. MIT uses a June 30 measurement date for its defined benefit and postretirement welfare benefit plans.

J. Retirement Benefits (continued) 

Table 25. Cumulative Amounts Recognized in Unrestricted Net Assets

Table 26. Projected Benefit Obligations and Fair Value of Assets

Defined Benefit Plan Postretirement Welfare Benefit Plan

(in thousands of dollars) 2015 2014 2015 2014

Amounts recognized in unrestricted net assets consist of:

Net actuarial loss  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                $  315,879 $  283,726 $  9,626 $  56,937 
Prior service cost/(credit)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                           1,926  2,880  (13,416)  (16,216)

Total cumulative amounts recognized in unrestricted net assets $  317,805 $  286,606 $  (3,790) $  40,721 

Defined Benefit Plan Postretirement Welfare Benefit Plan

(in thousands of dollars) 2015 2014 2015 2014

Change in projected benefit obligations:
     Projected benefit obligations at beginning of year $  3,140,704 $  2,803,784 $  539,262 $  479,117 
     Service cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                               80,840  71,661  25,950  22,079 
     Interest cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                               141,805  141,213  24,453  24,210 
     Retiree contributions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                       -  -  4,881  4,346 
     Net benefit payments, transfers, and other expenses  (113,739)  (124,927)  (24,232)  (23,512)
     Assumption changes and actuarial net loss (gain) . . .    182,078  248,973  (21,349)  33,022 
Projected benefit obligations at end of the year . .  .  . $  3,431,688 $  3,140,704 $  548,965 $  539,262 
Change in plan assets:
     Fair value of plan assets at beginning of the year  . .   3,135,764  2,758,276  495,372  414,981 
     Actual return on plan assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                   348,975  482,053  50,522  71,038 
     Employer contributions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                     7,500  20,362  28,651  31,514 
     Retiree contributions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                       -  -  4,881  4,346 
     Net benefit payments, transfers, and other expenses	  (113,739)  (124,927)  (30,506)  (26,507)
Fair value of plan assets at end of the year .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  3,378,500  3,135,764  548,920  495,372 
Unfunded status at end of the year . .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . $  (53,188) $  (4,940) $  (45) $  (43,890)
Amounts recognized in the Statements of Financial 
   Position consist of:
Total accrued benefit liabilities  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . $  (53,188) $  (4,940) $  (45) $  (43,890)
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J. Retirement Benefits (continued) 

The accumulated benefit obligation for MIT’s defined benefit 
plan was $3,075.9 million and $2,922.1 million at June 30, 2015 
and 2014, respectively.

MIT provides retiree drug coverage through an Employer Group 
Waiver Plan (EGWP). Under EGWP, the cost of drug coverage 
is offset through direct federal subsidies, brand-name drug 
discounts, and reinsurance reimbursements. 

Assumptions and Healthcare Trend Rates
Table 27 summarizes assumptions and healthcare trend rates.  The 
expected long-term rate of return assumption represents 

the expected average rate of earnings on the funds invested 
or to be invested to provide for the benefits included in the 
benefit obligation. The long-term rate of return assumption is 
determined based on a number of factors, including historical 
market index returns, the anticipated long-term asset allocation 
of the plans, historical plan return data, plan expenses, and the 
potential to outperform market index returns.

As an indicator of sensitivity, a one percentage point change in the assumed healthcare cost trend rate would affect 2015 as shown in 
Table 28 below.

Plan Investments 
The investment objectives for the assets of the plans are to 
minimize expected funding contributions and to meet or exceed 
the rate of return assumed for plan funding purposes over the 
long term. The nature and duration of benefit obligations, along 
with assumptions concerning asset class returns and return 
correlations, are considered when determining an appropriate 
asset allocation to achieve the investment objectives. 

Investment policies and strategies governing the assets of the 
plans are designed to achieve investment objectives within 
prudent risk parameters. Risk management practices include 
the use of external investment managers, the maintenance of a 
portfolio diversified by asset class, investment approach, security 
holdings, and the maintenance of sufficient liquidity to meet 
benefit obligations as they come due.

Table 27. Assumptions

* The average rate of salary increase is assumed to be 4.00% for 2016 and thereafter.

Table 28. Healthcare Cost Trend Rate Sensitivity

Defined Benefit Plan Postretirement Welfare Benefit Plan

(in thousands of dollars) 2015 2014 2015 2014

Assumptions used to determine benefit obligation as of 
   June 30:
     Discount rate  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                  4.62% 4.50% 4.54% 4.43%

     Rate of compensation increase* . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                     4.00% 4.00%
Assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost for 
   the year ended June 30:
     Discount rate  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                  4.50% 5.03% 4.43% 4.95%
     Expected long-term return on plan assets  . . . . . . . . . . . . .             8.00% 8.00% 7.00% 7.00%
     Rate of compensation increase* . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                     4.00% 4.00%
Assumed healthcare cost trend rates:
     Healthcare cost trend rate assumed for next year . . . . . . . .        7.00% 7.00%
     Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to decline (the       
        ultimate trend rate)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                            4.75% 4.75%

     Year the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate . . . . . . . . . . . .           2021 2021

(in thousands of dollars)
1% Point 
Increase

1% Point 
Decrease

Effect on 2015 postretirement service and interest cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                           $  8,457 $  (6,779)
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation as of June 30, 2015 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                      79,036  (64,866)
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J. Retirement Benefits (continued) 

Tables 29A and 29B present investments at fair value of MIT’s defined benefit plan and postretirement welfare benefit plan, which 
are included in plan net assets as of June 30, 2015 and 2014, grouped by the valuation hierarchy detailed in Note B. There were no 
transfers in and out of Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements in 2015 or 2014. 

Table 29A. Defined Benefit Plan Investments

(in thousands of dollars)

Quoted Prices in 
Active Markets 

(Level 1)

Significant Other 
Observable Inputs 

(Level 2)

Significant 
Unobservable Inputs 

(Level 3)

NAV as Practical 
Expedient 

(NAV)
Total Fair 

Value

Fiscal Year 2015
Cash and cash equivalents  . . . . . .       $  204,917 $  - $  - $  - $  204,917 
US Treasury . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                   298,529  -  -  -  298,529 
US Government agency . . . . . . . .          -  11,183  -  -  11,183 
Foreign bonds  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                 -  144  -  -  144 
Common equity:
     Long domestic . . . . . . . . . . . . .               32,253  -  74  -  32,327 
     Long foreign . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                122,483  902  -  -  123,385 
Equity:*
     Absolute return . . . . . . . . . . . .              -  -  -  334,619  334,619 
     Domestic . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                   -  -  -  504,042  504,042 
     Foreign . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                    -  -  -  809,825  809,825 
     Private . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                     -  -  -  629,042  629,042 
Real estate* . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                    -  1,466  -  273,468  274,934 
Real assets* . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                    -  -  261  133,386  133,647 
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                        5,069  -  760  -  5,829 
Derivatives . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                    13  1,209  -  -  1,222 
Total plan investments .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  $  663,264 $  14,904 $  1,095 $  2,684,382 $  3,363,645 
Fiscal Year 2014
Cash and cash equivalents  . . . . . .       $  307,951 $  - $  - $  - $  307,951 
US Treasury . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                   262,062  -  -  -  262,062 
US Government agency . . . . . . . .          -  14,816  -  -  14,816 
Foreign bonds  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                 -  -  -  -  - 
Common equity:
     Long domestic . . . . . . . . . . . . .               34,248  -  909  -  35,157 
     Long foreign . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                66,543  -  -  -  66,543 
Equity:*
     Absolute return . . . . . . . . . . . .              -  -  -  339,650  339,650 
     Domestic . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                   -  -  -  400,981  400,981 
     Foreign . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                    -  -  -  660,205  660,205 
     Private . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                     -  -  -  545,295  545,295 
Real estate* . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                    -  -  -  311,942  311,942 
Real assets* . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                    -  -  2,706  176,446  179,152 
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                        -  -  1,191  -  1,191 
Derivatives . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                    24  (1,265)  -  -  (1,241)
Total plan investments .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  $  670,828 $  13,551 $  4,806 $  2,434,519 $  3,123,704 

* Real assets, real estate, and equity categories include commingled vehicles that invest in these types of investments.
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J. Retirement Benefits (continued) 

Table 29B. Postretirement Welfare Benefit Plan Investments

* Real assets and equity categories include commingled vehicles that invest in these types of investments.

(in thousands of dollars)

Quoted Prices in 
Active Markets 

(Level 1)

Significant Other 
Observable Inputs 

(Level 2)

Significant 
Unobservable Inputs 

(Level 3)

Measured at 
Net Asset Value 

(NAV)
Total Fair 

Value

Fiscal Year 2015
Cash and cash equivalents  . . . . . . . .        $  18,502 $  - $  - $  - $  18,502 
Domestic bonds . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                 -  71,428  -  -  71,428 
Foreign bonds  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                  -  10  -  -  10 
Common equity:
     Long domestic . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .               25,177  -  -  -  25,177 
     Long foreign . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                 18,098  123  -  -  18,221 
Equity:*
     Absolute return . . . . . . . . . . . . . .               -  -  -  68,771  68,771 
     Domestic . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                   -  -  -  79,074  79,074 
     Foreign . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                     -  -  -  194,610  194,610 
     Private . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                      -  -  -  48,593  48,593 
Real estate  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                     -  200  -  20,362  20,562 
Real assets* . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                     -  -  -  3,763  3,763 
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                         362  -  -  -  362 
Total plan investments .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . $  62,139 $  71,761 $  - $  415,173 $  549,073 
Fiscal Year 2014
Cash and cash equivalents  . . . . . . . .        $  35,960 $  - $  - $  - $  35,960 
Domestic bonds . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                 -  78,182  -  -  78,182 
Foreign bonds  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                  -  -  -  -  - 
Common equity:
     Long domestic . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .               26,789  -  -  -  26,789 
     Long foreign . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                 5,022  -  -  -  5,022 
Equity:*
     Absolute return . . . . . . . . . . . . . .               -  -  -  69,554  69,554 
     Domestic . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                   -  -  -  65,018  65,018 
     Foreign . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                     -  -  -  156,344  156,344 
     Private . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                      -  -  -  32,032  32,032 
Real estate  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                     -  -  -  20,677  20,677 
Real assets* . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                     -  -  -  6,032  6,032 
Total plan investments .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . $  67,771 $  78,182 $  - $  349,657 $  495,610 
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J. Retirement Benefits (continued) 

Table 30 is a rollforward of the investments classified by MIT’s defined benefit plan within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy defined 
in Note B as at June 30, 2015 and 2014.

Table 30. Rollforward of Level 3 Investments

(in thousands of dollars)
Fair Value 
Beginning

Realized 
Gains 

(Losses)

Unrealized 
Gains 

(Losses) Purchases Sales Transfers
Fair Value 

Ending

Defined Benefit Plan
Fiscal Year 2015
Common equity:
     Long domestic . . . . .      $  909 $  - $  (835) $  - $  - $  - $  74 
     Long foreign . . . . . .        -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Real assets . . . . . . . . . . .  2,706  -  (2,445)  -  -  -  261 
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                1,191  -  (431)  -  -  -  760 
Total  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  $  4,806 $  - $  (3,711) $  - $  - $  - $  1,095 
Fiscal Year 2014
Common equity:
     Long domestic . . . . .      $  2,100 $  - $  - $  - $  - $  (1,191) $  909 
     Long foreign . . . . . .        -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Real assets . . . . . . . . . . .  2,486  -  220  -  -  -  2,706 
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                -  -  -  -  -  1,191  1,191 
Total  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  $  4,586 $  - $  220 $  - $  - $  - $  4,806 
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J. Retirement Benefits (continued) 

The plans have made investments in various long-lived partnerships, and in other cases have entered into contractual arrangements 
that may limit their ability to initiate redemptions due to notice periods, lock-ups, and gates. Details on estimated remaining life and 
current redemption terms and restrictions by asset class and type of investment for both the defined benefit plan and postretirement 
welfare benefit plan are provided in Table 31 below as of June 30, 2015 and 2014.

Table 31. Unfunded Commitments
2015 2014

 
(in thousands of dollars)

Unfunded 
Commitments Fair Value

Unfunded 
Commitments Fair Value

Redemption 
Terms

Redemption 
Restrictions

Defined Benefit Plan
Equity:
     Domestic . . . . . . . .         $  433 $  504,042 $  1,027 $  400,981 Redemption terms range from 

4 months with 30 days notice 
to 25 months with 3 months 
notice and 1 closed-end fund 
not available for redemption

Lock-up provisions 
range from none to 
3 months; 1 fund is 
not redeemable

     Foreign . . . . . . . . .           12,710  809,825  11,760  660,205 Redemption terms range from 
daily with 28 days notice to 3 
years with 3 months notice

Lock-up provisions 
range from none to 
5 years

     Absolute return . . . .    65,457  334,619  44,824  339,650 Redemption terms range from 
4 months with 30 days notice 
to closed-end funds which are 
not redeemable

Lock-up provisions 
range from none to 
not redeemable

     Private . . . . . . . . . .            232,650  629,042  269,612  545,295 Closed-end funds not available 
for redemption

Not redeemable

Real estate  . . . . . . . . .           133,612  273,468  135,912  311,942 Closed-end funds not available 
for redemption

Not redeemable

Real assets . . . . . . . . . .  30,602  133,386  37,447  176,446 Redemption terms range from 
8 months with 45 days notice 
for 1 fund with all other funds 
being closed-end and not 
redeemable

Not redeemable 
except for 1 fund 
with no lock-up 
provisions

Total $  475,464 $  2,684,382 $  500,582 $  2,434,519 

Equity:
     Domestic . . . . . . . .         $  48 $  79,074 $  114 $  65,018 Redemption terms range from 

4 months with 30 days notice 
to 25 months with 3 months 
notice and 1 closed-end fund 
not available for redemption

Lock-up provisions 
range from none to 
3 months; 1 fund is 
not redeemable

     Foreign . . . . . . . . .           2,000  194,610  1,560  156,344 Redemption terms range from 
45 days with 10 days notice to 
3 years with 3 months notice

Lock-up provisions 
range from none to 
5 years

     Absolute return . . . .    7,393  68,771  3,697  69,554 Redemption terms range from 
4 months with 30 days notice 
to closed-end funds which are 
not redeemable

Lock-up provisions 
range from none to 
not redeemable

     Private . . . . . . . . . .            30,742  48,593  33,669  32,032 Closed-end funds not available 
for redemption

Not redeemable

Real estate  . . . . . . . . .           16,083  20,362  13,722  20,677 Closed-end funds not available 
for redemption

Not redeemable

Real assets . . . . . . . . . .  3,889  3,763  4,675  6,032 Closed-end funds not available 
for redemption

Not redeemable

Total  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  $  60,155 $  415,173 $  57,437 $  349,657 

Postretirement Welfare Benefit Plan
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Target allocations and weighted-average asset allocations of the investment portfolio for the MIT defined benefit plan and 
postretirement welfare benefit plan at June 30, 2015 and 2014, are shown in Table 32.

Table 33 summarizes the notional exposure and net ending fair value of derivative financial instruments held by the MIT defined 
benefit plan at June 30, 2015 and 2014. Refer to Note C for a detailed discussion regarding derivative financial instruments.

J. Retirement Benefits (continued) 

Table 32. Plan Investment Allocation

Defined Benefit Plan Postretirement Welfare Benefit Plan
2015 Target 
Allocation 2015 2014

2015 Target 
Allocation 2015 2014

Cash and cash equivalents  . . . . . . .         0-10% 6% 10%  0–10% 3% 7%
Fixed income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                   3-13% 9% 8%  10–20% 13% 16%
Equities  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                       35.5–75.5% 63% 55%  38–78% 66% 58%
Marketable alternatives . . . . . . . . . .            7.5–17.5% 10% 11%  9.5–19.5% 13% 14%
Real assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  3–13% 4% 6%  0–7.5% 1% 1%
Real estate  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                     6–16% 8% 10%  0–10% 4% 4%
Total  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  100% 100% 100% 100%

Notional Exposure

(in thousands of dollars) Long Short
Net Ending Fair 
Value Amount

Net Gain 
(Loss)

Fiscal Year 2015
Fixed income instruments:
     Fixed income futures . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                    $  2,500 $  (1,000) $  13 $  (23)
     Interest rate swaps . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                       -  -  -  - 
Total fixed income instruments  . . . . . . . . . . . . .               2,500  (1,000)  13  (23)
Commodity and index instruments:
     Equity index swaps . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                      -  (50,851)  1,209  (10,835)
Total commodity and index instruments  . . . . . .        -  (50,851)  1,209  (10,835)
Credit instruments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                         -  -  -  - 
2015 Total .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  $  2,500 $  (51,851) $  1,222 $  (10,858)
Fiscal Year 2014
Fixed income instruments:
     Fixed income futures . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                    $  200 $  (4,700) $  24 $  73 

     Interest rate swaps . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                       -  -  -  - 
Total fixed income instruments  . . . . . . . . . . . . .               200  (4,700)  24  73 
Commodity and index instruments:
     Equity index swaps . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                      -  (23,573)  (1,265)  (89)
Total commodity and index instruments  . . . . . .        -  (23,573)  (1,265)  (89)
Credit instruments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                         -  -  -  - 
2014 Total .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  $  200 $  (28,273) $  (1,241) $  (16)

Table 33. Derivative Financial Instruments for Defined Benefit Plan
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J. Retirement Benefits (continued) 

Table 34. Offsetting of Financial and Derivative Assets and Liabilities

Table 35. Reconciliation of Financial and Derivative Assets and Liabilities

Counterparty risk may be partially or completely mitigated 
through master netting agreements included within an 
International Swap and Derivatives Association, Inc. 
(“ISDA”) Master Agreement between the Plan and each of its 
counterparties. The ISDA Master Agreement allows the Plan 
to offset with the counterparty certain derivative instruments’ 
payables and/or receivables with collateral held with each 
counterparty. 

To the extent amounts due from the counterparties are not fully 
collateralized contractually or otherwise, there is the risk of loss 
from counterparty non-performance. As of June 30, 2015, the 
Plan has elected not to offset recognized assets and liabilities in 
the Defined Benefit Plan Investments Table. The following tables, 
34 and 35, summarize the effect that offsetting of recognized 
assets and liabilities could have in the Defined Benefit Plan 
Investments Table.

Maximum risk of loss from counterparty credit risk on over-
the-counter derivatives is generally the aggregate unrealized 
appreciation in excess of any collateral pledged by the 
counterparty. ISDA Master Agreements allow the Plan or the 
counterparties to an over-the-counter derivative to terminate 
the contract prior to maturity in the event either party fails to 

meet the terms in the ISDA Master Agreements. This would 
cause an accelerated payment of net liability, if any owed to the 
counterparty.

Table 35 below reconciles the net recognized assets and liabilities, 
as shown in Table 34, to derivative financial instruments as shown 
in Table 29A.

2015 2014

(in thousands of dollars)
Gross 

Amount

Cash/Treasury 
Collateral 
Posted/

(Received)
Net 

Amount
Gross 

Amount

Cash/Treasury 
Collateral 
Posted/

(Received)
Net 

Amount

Assets
Counterparty A  . . . . . . . . . . . . .              $  1,209 $  (2,950) $  (1,741) $  - $  - $  - 
Total assets  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  $  1,209 $  (2,950) $  (1,741) $  - $  - $  - 
Liabilities

Counterparty A  . . . . . . . . . . . . .              $  - $  - $  - $  (1,265) $  1,330 $  65 
Total liabilities  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .   -  -  -  (1,265)  1,330  65 

Total assets and liabilities, net .  .  $  1,209 $  (2,950) $  (1,741) $  (1,265) $  1,330 $  65 

(in thousands of dollars) 2015 2014

Derivatives from Table 29A  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                  $  1,222 $  (1,241)
Fixed income futures  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                                        (13)  (24)
Total  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  $  1,209 $  (1,265)
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Table 36. Expected Future Benefit Payments

(in thousands of dollars)
Pension 
Benefits

Other 
Benefits*

2016 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $  144,557 $  25,230 
2017 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  151,687  27,342 
2018 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  156,611  29,084 
2019 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  162,670  30,511 
2020 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  169,197  31,857 
2021–2025 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  945,966  182,062 

* Other benefits reflect the total net benefits expected to be paid from the plans (e.g., gross benefit reimbursement offset by retiree contributions).

J. Retirement Benefits (continued) 

Expected Future Benefit Payments
In 2016, MIT expects to make contributions of $21.9 million 
and $23.2 million to its defined benefit pension plan and post-
retirement welfare benefit plan, respectively. These contributions 
have been estimated based on the same assumptions used to 
measure MIT’s benefit obligations at June 30, 2015.

Table 36 reflects total expected benefit payments for the defined 
benefit and postretirement welfare benefit plans. These payments 
have been estimated based on the same assumptions used to 
measure MIT’s benefit obligations at June 30, 2015.
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K. Components of Net Assets and Endowment

Table 37 presents the total net assets composition as of June 30, 
2015. The amounts listed in the unrestricted category under 
endowment funds are those gifts and other funds received 
over the years that MIT designated as funds functioning as 

endowment and invested with the endowment funds. A large 
component of temporarily restricted net assets in other invested 
funds is pledges, the majority of which will be reclassified to 
unrestricted net assets when cash is received.  

Table 37. Total Net Asset Composition

2015

(in thousands of dollars) Unrestricted
Temporarily 
Restricted

Permanently 
Restricted Total 2014 Total

Endowment funds
General purpose . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                    $  900,984 $  1,115,371 $  227,474 $  2,243,829 $  2,067,894 
Departments and research  . . . . . . . . . . . .             625,386  1,096,170  609,789  2,331,345  2,114,376 
Library . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                            12,077  24,660  15,073  51,810  45,792 
Salaries and wages . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  549,714  2,696,320  684,765  3,930,799  3,630,002 
Graduate general  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                    89,489  156,713  98,159  344,361  314,380 
Graduate departments  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                120,290  372,942  250,894  744,126  659,938 
Undergraduate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                      225,798  1,143,805  355,383  1,724,986  1,580,124 
Prizes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                             8,754  32,580  20,551  61,885  57,016 
Miscellaneous . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                      1,133,931  251,230  279,334  1,664,495  1,606,546 
Investment income held for distribution  377,107  -  -  377,107  349,063 
Endowment funds before pledges . . . . . . .        4,043,530  6,889,791  2,541,422  13,474,743  12,425,131 
Pledges . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                            -  -  213,196  213,196  164,647 
Total endowment funds .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  4,043,530  6,889,791  2,754,618  13,687,939  12,589,778 
Other Invested Funds
Student loan funds . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                   20,052  -  18,262  38,314  37,842 
Building funds . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                      49,111  54,879  -  103,990  134,092 
Designated purposes:
     Departments and research . . . . . . . . . .           355,371  -  -  355,371  304,097 

     Other purposes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                   415,061  45,203  -  460,264  496,317 
Life income funds . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  6,022  31,917  108,988  146,927  158,043 
Pledges . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                            -  344,899  -  344,899  325,688 
Other funds available for current expenses  1,485,072  186,758  -  1,671,830  1,364,418 
Funds expended for educational plant  697,039  -  -  697,039  617,392 
Total other invested funds  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  3,027,728  663,656  127,250  3,818,634  3,437,889 
Noncontrolling interests . . . . . . . . . . . . . .              232,415  -  -  232,415  287,825 
Total net assets at fair value .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . $  7,303,673 $  7,553,447 $  2,881,868 $  17,738,988 $  16,315,492 



38 MIT REPORT OF THE TREASURER 2015

K. Components of Net Assets and Endowment (continued)

MIT’s endowment consists of approximately 3,800 individual 
funds established for a variety of purposes and includes both 
donor-restricted endowment funds and funds designated by 
the Executive Committee of the MIT Corporation (Executive 
Committee) to function as endowments. As required by 
GAAP, net assets associated with endowment funds, including 
funds designated by the Executive Committee to function as 
endowments, are classified and reported based on the existence or 
absence of donor-imposed restrictions.

The Executive Committee has interpreted the Massachusetts-
enacted version of the Uniform Prudent Management of 
Institutional Funds Act (UPMIFA) as allowing MIT to 
appropriate for expenditure or accumulate so much of an 
endowment fund as MIT determines is prudent for the uses, 
benefits, purposes, and duration for which the endowment 
fund is established, subject to the intent of the donor as 
expressed in the gift instrument.  Unless stated otherwise in 
the gift instrument, the assets in an endowment fund shall be 
donor-restricted assets until appropriated for expenditure by 

the Executive Committee. As a result of this interpretation, 
MIT has not changed the way permanently restricted net assets 
are classified. (See Note A for further information on net asset 
classification.) The remaining portion of the donor-restricted 
endowment fund that is not classified in permanently restricted 
net assets is classified as temporarily restricted net assets until 
those amounts are appropriated for expenditure in a manner 
consistent with the standard of prudence prescribed by UPMIFA. 
In accordance with UPMIFA, the Executive Committee considers 
the following factors in making a determination to appropriate or 
accumulate endowment funds:

i.	 the duration and preservation of the fund
ii.	 the purposes of MIT and the endowment fund 
iii.	 general economic conditions
iv.	 the possible effects of inflation and deflation
v.	 the expected total return from income and the 
	 appreciation of  investments
vi.	 other resources of  MIT
vii.	 the investment policies of  MIT

Underwater Endowment Funds	
From time to time, the fair value of assets associated with individual donor-restricted endowment funds may fall below the value of the 
initial and subsequent donor gift amounts (underwater). When underwater endowment funds exist, they are classified as a reduction 
of unrestricted net assets. There were no underwater endowment funds reported in unrestricted net assets as of June 30, 2015 and June 
30, 2014.

Table 38. Endowment Net Asset Composition by Type of Fund

(in thousands of dollars) Unrestricted
Temporarily 
Restricted

Permanently 
Restricted Total

Fiscal Year 2015
Donor-restricted endowment funds . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                    $  - $  6,889,791 $  2,754,618 $  9,644,409 
Board-designated endowment funds . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                     4,043,530  -  -  4,043,530 
Total endowment funds .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  $  4,043,530 $  6,889,791 $  2,754,618 $  13,687,939 
Fiscal Year 2014
Donor-restricted endowment funds . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                    $  - $  6,169,847 $  2,710,357 $  8,880,204 
Board-designated endowment funds . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                     3,709,574  -  -  3,709,574 
Total endowment funds .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  $  3,709,574 $  6,169,847 $  2,710,357 $  12,589,778 
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K. Components of Net Assets and Endowment (continued)

Table 39. Changes in Endowment Net Assets

(in thousands of dollars) Unrestricted
Temporarily 
Restricted

Permanently 
Restricted Total

Fiscal Year 2015
Endowment net assets, July 1, 2014  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                      $  3,709,574 $  6,169,847 $  2,710,357 $  12,589,778 
Investment return:
     Investment income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                  29,346  63,752  7,738  100,836 
     Net appreciation (realized and unrealized) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                 448,256  1,029,171  (100,887)  1,376,540 
Total investment return  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                 477,602  1,092,923  (93,149)  1,477,376 
Contributions  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                        -  -  88,376  88,376 
Appropriation of endowment assets for expenditure . . . . . . . . . .            (165,768)  (375,259)  (4,834)  (545,861)
Other changes:
     Underwater gain adjustment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                           -  -  -  - 
     Net asset reclassifications and transfers to create board- 
        designated endowment funds . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                         22,122  2,280  53,868  78,270 
Endowment net assets, June 30, 2015 .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  $  4,043,530 $  6,889,791 $  2,754,618 $  13,687,939 
Fiscal Year 2014
Endowment net assets, July 1, 2013 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                       $  3,228,902 $  5,171,454 $  2,605,576 $  11,005,932 
Investment return:
     Investment income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                  26,120  51,051  17,590  94,761 
     Net appreciation (realized and unrealized) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                 576,974  1,294,684  (59,564)  1,812,094 
Total investment return  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                 603,094  1,345,735  (41,974)  1,906,855 
Contributions  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                        -  -  117,208  117,208 
Appropriation of endowment assets for expenditure . . . . . . . . . .            (158,367)  (346,848)  (10,216)  (515,431)
Other changes:
     Underwater gain adjustment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                           1,191  (1,191)  -  - 
     Net asset reclassifications and transfers to create board- 
        designated endowment funds . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                         34,754  697  39,763  75,214 
Endowment net assets, June 30, 2014 .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  $  3,709,574 $  6,169,847 $  2,710,357 $  12,589,778 
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K. Components of Net Assets and Endowment (continued)

Investment and Spending Policies
MIT maintains its investments primarily in two investment 
pools: Pool A, principally for endowment and funds functioning 
as endowment, and Pool C, principally for investment of current 
funds of MIT’s schools and departments and MIT’s operating 
funds. Pool A operates as a mutual fund with units purchased 
and redeemed based on the previous month’s unit market value of 
Pool A. The total market value of Pool A was $14,957.1 million 
at June 30, 2015 and $13,654.9 million at June 30, 2014. Pool 
A includes certain operating and life income funds totaling 
$1,652.2 million at June 30, 2015 and $1,512.6 million at June 
30, 2014. Certain assets are also maintained in separately invested 
funds. Separately invested funds totaled $176.3 million at June 
30, 2015 and $282.8 million at June 30, 2014. 

MIT has adopted endowment investment and spending policies 
designed to provide a predictable stream of funding to programs 
supported by its endowment while maintaining the purchasing 
power of endowment assets. An additional investment goal 
is to maximize return relative to appropriate risk such that 
performance exceeds appropriate benchmark returns at the total 
pool, asset class, and individual manager levels. 

To achieve its long-term rate-of-return objectives, MIT relies on 
a total return strategy in which investment returns are realized 
through both capital appreciation (realized and unrealized 
gains) and current yield (interest and dividends). MIT targets a 
diversified asset allocation that places greater emphasis on equity-
based investments to achieve its long-term objectives within 
prudent risk constraints. 

The Executive Committee of the Corporation votes to distribute 
funds for operational support from general investments. In 
accordance with MIT’s spending policy, these distributions are 
funded from both investment income and market appreciation. 
The distribution rates were $65.33 and $62.90 per Pool A unit 
as of June 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively. In 2015, the amount 
distributed for spending from Pool A and Pool C totaled $670.3 
million, compared to $623.5 million distributed in 2014. 
Included in this amount was a special distribution of $34.7 
million and $31.1 million from gains in Pool C in 2015 and 
2014, respectively. During 2015, distributions from separately 
invested funds were $5.5 million, compared to $10.9 million in 
2014. The income earned in Pool C, or currently invested funds, 
was fully distributed.  
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Massachusetts Institute of Technology
Five-Year Trend Analysis – Financial Highlights

(in thousands of dollars) 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Financial Position

Investments, at fair value  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                 $  17,533,764 $  16,228,756 $  13,830,100 $  12,847,866 $  12,236,531 
Land, buildings, and equipment, at cost less 
   accumulated depreciation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                2,822,312  2,624,271  2,516,264  2,497,711  2,451,479 
Borrowings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                            2,922,231  2,918,901  2,428,215  2,460,002  2,467,825 

Total assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                             21,902,855  20,358,797  17,719,840  16,738,758  16,052,231 

Total liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                          4,163,867  4,043,305  3,586,966  3,939,414  3,664,500 

Unrestricted net assets  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                    7,303,673  6,754,956  5,775,618  4,888,952  4,885,321 

Temporarily restricted net assets . . . . . . . . . . . .             7,553,447  6,718,225  5,644,291  5,297,554  5,044,519 

Permanently restricted net assets . . . . . . . . . . . .            2,881,868  2,842,311  2,712,965  2,612,838  2,457,891 

Total net assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                          17,738,988  16,315,492  14,132,874  12,799,344  12,387,731 

Total endowment funds before pledges . . . . . . .       13,474,743  12,425,131  10,857,976  10,149,564  9,712,628 

Principal Sources of Revenues

Tuition and similar revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .              $  612,101 $  595,801 $  568,957 $  527,702 $  493,777 

Research revenues:

     Campus direct . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                       482,563  475,382  473,220  471,155  456,416 

     Campus indirect . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                      183,020  188,136  188,742  183,200  162,497 

     Lincoln Laboratory direct . . . . . . . . . . . . . .               844,588  791,292  860,190  819,645  770,672 

     Lincoln Laboratory indirect . . . . . . . . . . . . .             34,739  37,367  30,783  25,263  34,111 

     SMART direct . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                       31,620  31,519  47,332  28,311  23,300 

     SMART indirect . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                      117  98  193  276  210 

Gifts, bequests, and pledges . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                493,690  452,655  325,018  433,424  522,409 

Net gain (loss) on investments and other assets  1,651,600  2,152,933  1,164,164  738,308  1,483,669 

Investment income and distributions . . . . . . . .         675,744  634,454  604,753  554,627  505,503 

Principal Purposes of Expenditures

Total operating expenditures  . . . . . . . . . . . . . .              $  3,111,119 $  2,918,517 $  2,908,577 $  2,744,586 $  2,571,147 

General and administrative . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                763,680  713,103  681,505  604,320  523,676 

Instruction and unsponsored research . . . . . . . .        811,495  777,382  692,032  673,851  659,839 
Direct cost of sponsored research current 
   dollars . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                               1,386,334  1,283,189  1,397,857  1,335,638  1,265,776 
Direct cost of sponsored research constant 
   dollars (2011 = 100) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                    1,295,019  1,207,395  1,335,834  1,297,619  1,265,776 
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Massachusetts Institute of Technology
Five-Year Trend Analysis – Financial Highlights (continued)

(in thousands of dollars) 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Research Revenues

Campus

Federal Government sponsored:

     Health and Human Services  . . . . . . . . . . .            $  116,469 $  115,075 $  119,908 $  133,687 $  152,664 

     Department of Defense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                 125,854  122,761  127,967  117,458  107,753 

     Department of Energy . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                  81,528  88,451  88,988  90,940  89,562 

     National Science Foundation . . . . . . . . . . .  78,953  78,979  79,255  81,487  74,859 

     National Aeronautics and Space Administration  41,740  32,062  29,835  30,204  28,080 

     Other Federal  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                        15,435  17,610  19,994  18,807  16,602 

Total Federal  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                           459,979  454,938  465,947  472,583  469,520 

Non-Federally sponsored:

     State/local/foreign governments . . . . . . . . .           27,951  28,967  33,429  38,273  32,969 

     Nonprofits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                           78,667  72,118  58,227  48,373  44,436 

     Industry  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                            119,238  112,379  106,447  109,745  100,763 

Total non-Federal . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                        225,856  213,464  198,103  196,391  178,168 

Total Federal and non-Federal  . . . . . . . . . . . .              685,835  668,402  664,050  668,974  647,688 

F&A and other adjustments . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                (20,252)  (4,884)  (2,088)  (14,619)  (28,775)

Total campus . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                           665,583  663,518  661,962  654,355  618,913 

Lincoln Laboratory

Federal Government sponsored  . . . . . . . . . . .             886,637  809,011  882,462  844,202  803,599 

Non-Federally sponsored . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                  3,609  2,333  1,622  2,023  2,511 

F&A and other adjustments . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                (10,919)  17,315  6,889  (1,317)  (1,327)

Total Lincoln Laboratory . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                  879,327  828,659  890,973  844,908  804,783 

SMART (A)

Non-Federally sponsored . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                  31,737  31,617  47,525  28,587  23,510 

Total SMART  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                          31,737  31,617  47,525  28,587  23,510 

Total research revenues .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  $  1,576,647 $  1,523,794 $  1,600,460 $  1,527,850 $  1,447,206 

(A) The amounts represent research that has predominantly taken place in Singapore.
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Massachusetts Institute of Technology
Five-Year Trend Analysis – Financial Highlights (continued) 

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Students

Undergraduate:

     Full-time . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                            4,476  4,499  4,480  4,354  4,252 

     Part-time . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                            36  29  23  30  47 

Undergraduate applications:

     Applicants . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                           18,356  18,989  18,109  17,909  16,632 

     Accepted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                            1,447  1,548  1,620  1,742  1,676 

     Acceptance rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                      8% 8% 9% 10% 10%

     Enrolled  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                            1,043  1,115  1,135  1,126  1,067 

     Yield  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                             72% 72% 70% 65% 64%

     Freshman ranking in the top 10% of their class 97% 99% 98% 97% 98%

     Average SAT Scores (math and verbal)  . . . .     1,500  1,492  1,481  1,472  1,473 

Graduate:

     Full-time . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                            6,630  6,639  6,537  6,342  6,108 

     Part-time . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                            177  134  149  168  159 

Graduate applications:

     Applicants . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                           24,468  24,029  22,588  22,219  22,139 

     Accepted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                            3,718  3,320  3,504  3,306  3,431 

     Acceptance rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                      15% 14% 16% 15% 15%

     Enrolled  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                            2,441  2,163  2,229  2,118  2,141 

     Yield  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                             66% 65% 64% 64% 62%

Tuition (in dollars)

Tuition and fees  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                       $  45,016 $  43,498 $  42,050 $  40,732 $  39,212 

Average room and board . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                  13,224  12,744  12,188  11,775  11,234 

Student Support (in thousands of dollars)

Undergraduate tuition support . . . . . . . . . . . . .             $  107,148 $  103,076 $  101,831 $  102,081 $  92,060 

Graduate tuition support  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                 247,361  240,022  226,158  215,702  201,995 

Fellowship stipends  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                      38,759  38,792  36,173  33,263  30,435 

Student loans  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  8,348  9,095  9,669  9,556  9,968 

Student employment  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                     105,261  99,890  96,446  90,135  85,335 

Total student support .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . $  506,877 $  490,875 $  470,277 $  450,737 $  419,793 

Faculty and Staff (including unpaid appointments)

Faculty . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                                1,021  1,030  1,022  1,018  1,017 

Staff and fellows . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .                         14,307  13,787  13,416  13,109  12,662 
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